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REFLECTIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL

In my report to the Legislature last year, I indicated that I intended to continue to
call on the government to use the Summary Budget, which the government prepares

using accounting rules that are close to generally accepted accounting principles, as the
primary tool for communicating its financial plan to the members of the legislature and
the citizens of Manitoba.

The government has continued to use the Operating Fund budget as its primary tool in
communicating its fiscal results.  Because this budget includes only a part of the
activities for which the government is accountable and because it is prepared using
accounting rules unique to Manitoba, the Operating Fund Budget gives legislators and
citizens a confusing and incomplete picture of the government’s fiscal plans.

It is interesting to note that, since 1989, when balanced budget legislation was
originally passed, an estimated $2 billion in pension costs have been excluded from the
calculation of the balanced budgets of the Operating Fund.  I do not believe that the
exclusion of these significant costs is what the average citizen understands by the term
“Balanced Budget”.  The exclusion is, however, permitted by the balanced budget
legislation.

Another contributor to confusion on the part of citizens is that the Summary Budget for
the year ended March 31, 2004 forecasts a deficit of $110 million, while the budget for
the Operating Fund forecasts a positive balance of $10 million.

As I indicated last year:

“Placing more emphasis on the Summary Budget is important because:

• There is considerable financial activity within the overall Government
Reporting Entity that is not reflected in the budget for the Operating
Fund.

• It would provide a focus for broader debate in the Legislature on
government fiscal plans.

• When aligned with reporting used in the Summary Financial Statements,
it will facilitate comparison of budget to actual, thereby furthering more
informed debate.

• It is prepared on a basis that is close to generally accepted accounting
principles.

• It facilitates comparison of Manitoba’s results to other jurisdictions.  The
governments of Canada, British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, Quebec and
New Brunswick have already made the Summary Budget their primary
budget.

Clear financial reporting and budgeting is a critical component of our
system of democracy.  As long as the Government continues to give primacy
to a budget prepared on a basis different than most other governments in
Canada, the Legislature and the citizens of Manitoba will be hindered in
their ability to hold the government of the day accountable for its
management of public monies.”

Jon W. Singleton, CA•CISA
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Financial Reporting Structure

The Public Accounts of Manitoba represent the annual financial statements for the
Province of Manitoba (Province).  These financial statements provide an important link in
an essential chain of public accountability.  They are the principal means by which the
Government reports to the Legislative Assembly and to all Manitobans on its stewardship
of public funds.

The Public Accounts are prepared in accordance with The Financial Administration Act
and contain the financial statements and supporting information required by this
legislation.  The Public Accounts also include information required by other legislation
such as the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and by
the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act.

Public Accounts are represented by two distinct sets of financial statements that satisfy
two unique purposes.  The Summary Financial Statements are the General Purpose
statements of the Government.  They provide audited information on the aggregate
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financial affairs and resources for which the Government is responsible, including
government enterprises and crown organizations as listed in Appendix E.  The Summary
Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with public sector accounting standards
(as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board [PSAB]) of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants (CICA) with notable exceptions.  These statements are the
appropriate statements to use when comparing the operating results and the financial
position of the Province to other provinces and the federal government.  The
consolidated net loss reported in the Summary Financial Statements of the Government
for 2002/03 was $184 million.

The other set of financial statements presented for Public Accounts are the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund and Special Funds.  They are Special Purpose in nature
and are intended to serve as the Government’s accountability report to the Legislative
Assembly on revenues raised and expenditures made as authorized by the Appropriation
Act and other statutory spending authorities.  These financial statements are also used to
reflect the Government’s compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and
Taxpayer Accountability Act.  For 2002/03 the Government achieved a positive balance
of $4 million including interfund transfers from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund and to the
Debt Retirement Fund and, therefore, was in compliance with balanced budget
legislation.  These statements do not incorporate the Government’s unfunded pension
liabilities or the results of other organizations owned and controlled by the Government
as included in the Summary Financial Statements.

The Public Accounts for the 2002/03 fiscal year are published in four volumes.  The
preceding chart illustrates the structure of the Government’s financial reporting in the
Public Accounts.

Volume 1, Province of Manitoba Annual Report, contains:

• the audited Summary Financial Statements;
• the audited Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating

Fund and Special Funds (Operating Fund);
• the Minister of Finance’s comments for the year ended March 31,

2003;
• information on the Manitoba economy;
• discussions on financial indicators; and
• variance explanations for both the Summary Financial Statements and

the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.

Volume 2, Supplementary Information, contains details of employee
compensation of $50,000 or more, as well as information on other
payments from the Operating Fund in excess of $5,000 to corporations,
firms, individuals, other governments and government agencies.  The
information on employee compensation of $50,000 or more is audited as
required by the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act.  The
information on other payments from the Operating Fund to corporations,
firms, individuals, other governments and government agencies is
unaudited.

Volume 3, Supplementary Schedules and Other Statutory Reporting
Requirements, provides additional information on the Operating Fund of
the Government.  This financial information is unaudited with the
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exception of the Report of Amounts Paid to MLAs and the Northern Affairs
Fund.

Volume 4, The Financial Statements of Funds, Organizations, Agencies and
Enterprises Comprising the Government Reporting Entity, contains the
individual audited financial statements of the various entities owned or
controlled by the Government which are included in the Government
Reporting Entity for the Province of Manitoba, except for the Operating
Fund and Special Operating Agencies (SOAs).  (However, Volume 4
contains the financial statements for the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority).  The audited financial statements of SOAs are
included in a separate annual report prepared for the Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority.

Accountability Model

This model provides an overview of the accountability organization of the provincial
public sector.  It is not intended to represent all parties or relationships involved, but
rather to emphasize that various levels that exist, and that accountability to the public
is relevant at all levels.

It can be used when considering accountability at various levels within Provincial
operations reflecting the Government’s accountability to citizens, to the Legislative
Assembly, Departments’ and Provincial public sector entities’ accountability to the
Government, Deputy Minister’s or Board’s accountability to a Minister, and management’s
accountability to a Deputy Minister.
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Auditor Independence and Objectivity
In the legislative audit community, we maintain the highest standards of independence
and objectivity in the conduct of our audits. In Manitoba, our audit role includes an
involvement with prospectuses as well as the financial statement audit of the Public
Accounts and other entities.  We do not provide non-assurance services such as designing
or implementing a hardware or software system, valuation services, financial statement
preparation or bookkeeping services, legal services or internal audit services.  In the
private sector provision of these services by external auditors and inadequate rotation of
the audit partner have been identified as contributing to failures to provide the high
level of assurance associated with generally accepted auditing standards.

Because legislative auditors report directly to the Legislative Assembly, we are
independent of government.  Further, because we have no financial interest in
organizations we audit, and do not benefit from the audit fees we charge, we are less
vulnerable to independence threats existing in the private sector.

Similarly, the threat that we might become too sympathetic to an audited organization’s
interests to maintain our objectivity is dealt with in the political process by the
requirement for periodic general elections as well as the ten year term of the
appointment of the Auditor General.  In addition, staff rotation on the audit of the
Public Accounts and the influence of the broader legislative audit community assist us in
maintaining our objectivity.

During the past year we formalized our communication with audit committees or their
equivalents and took steps to ensure that the private sector auditors of the entities
within the government reporting entity adhered to independence and conflict of interest
standards.

We continue to provide a high level of assurance in our reports to the Legislative
Assembly, and therefore to the citizens of Manitoba, and we will continue to maintain
our independence and objectivity.

Summary Financial Statements -
Auditor’s Report
The Auditor’s Report on the Summary Financial Statements is included for reference in
Appendix A at the end of this report, along with an excerpt of the Summary Financial
Statements for the year ended March 31, 2003 contained in Appendix B.

The Auditor General Act requires the Auditor General to provide assurance to the
Legislative Assembly on the annual Public Accounts and other accountability documents
prepared by the Government.  To address this mandate, the office issues high level
assurance reports in the format of the standard auditor’s report recommended by the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA).
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The purpose of the auditor’s report is to provide the reader with a high level of assurance
on the fairness of financial statements, while describing the distinct roles of management
and the auditor with respect to these financial statements, and outlining the nature and
scope of audit work conducted.

An unqualified auditor’s report, where there is no reservation of opinion, contains three
standard paragraphs.  The introductory paragraph identifies the financial statements that
have been audited and reflects management’s responsibility for preparing the financial
statements as well as the auditor’s responsibility for expressing an opinion on the
fairness of the balances, transaction totals and overall presentation.  The second
paragraph describes the nature and extent of the auditor’s work and the degree of
assurance that the auditor’s report provides.  It refers to Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards (GAAS) and describes some of the important procedures the auditor
undertakes. The final paragraph contains the auditor’s opinion or conclusion based on the
audit conducted.

The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) sets generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for the public sector in Canada.  PSAB pronouncements represent the consensus of
senior government officials, legislative auditors and other experts in public sector
accounting across Canada.  They represent standards for governments and are the
benchmark for acceptable financial reporting.

The auditor’s reports issued by Manitoba’s Auditor General, as well as by other legislative
auditors across Canada reflect the extent to which government financial statements
comply with these auditing, accounting and financial reporting standards.  In situations
where government financial statements do not comply with PSAB standards, legislative
auditors consider the need to include a reservation in their opinion.  These standards are
designed to apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the Government.

In Manitoba, the Summary Financial Statements are presented in the Annual Report,
together with the Auditor General’s Report thereon.  For the seventh consecutive year,
the Auditor General’s Report on the Government’s Summary Financial Statements was
issued without reservation.  It should be noted, however, that the audit opinion is not a
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles’ (GAAP) opinion, and the exceptions to GAAP
are disclosed in Note 1 to the Summary Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2003 as reproduced in Appendix B on page 172.

Our Office is recommending that the Government commit to the adoption of GAAP by a
defined date.
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Special Purpose Financial Statements
of the Operating Fund and Special Funds -
Auditor’s Report

AUDIT OPINION ON THE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
The Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund
and Special Funds is included for reference in Appendix C at the end of this report, along
with an excerpt of the Operating Fund and Special Funds for the year ended March 31,
2003 contained in Appendix D.

As mentioned previously, the Financial Statements of the Operating and Special Funds
(Operating Fund) are special purpose in nature.  They are intended to serve as the
Government’s accountability report to the Legislative Assembly on revenues raised and
expenditures made as authorized by the Appropriation Act and other statutory spending
authorities.  These financial statements are specifically used to reflect the Government’s
compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act
and The Financial Administration Act.

Special Purpose Financial Statements are by their nature incomplete and often deviate
significantly from GAAP.  Hence, while required for reporting on compliance with
balanced budget legislation, they are not complete for understanding the Government’s
management of its financial affairs.

As a result of changes to generally accepted auditing standards for the 2003/04 fiscal
year, the Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating
Fund and Special Funds will include a more detailed reference to the fact that the
financial statements are special purpose and not prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles.  There will also be a fourth paragraph
following the opinion paragraph, which will emphasize the special purpose nature of the
financial statements and the fact that they are intended for the Legislative Assembly as
legislators reviewing compliance with Balanced Budget Legislation.

PENSION LIABILITIES EXCLUDED FROM THE OPERATING FUND
In 1990, our office issued our first audit qualification for pension liabilities not being
recorded in the Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.  Each year since then we
have recommended the Government amend its accounting policy for pension costs and
liabilities.  In 2002/03, the unrecorded pension liability for the Operating Fund
approximated $3.4 billion.

In 1999/00, the Government issued the Summary Financial Statements and the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund in a single volume with the Financial Statements of the
Operating Fund subordinate to the Summary Financial Statements.  As the pension
liability is recorded in the Summary Statements, the impact on the entire Government
Reporting Entity including the Operating Fund is readily apparent.
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Furthermore, the Government committed, starting 2000/01, to set aside funds equal to
the pension contributions for all civil servants and teachers hired on or after April 1,
2000.  They also committed to set aside additional funds from time to time toward the
pension liability.  Effective October 1, 2002, departments and certain economically
dependent Crown Organizations also began setting aside funds equal to the pension
contributions of civil servants hired on or after October 1, 2002, in effect, matching
contributions, as part of their annual budget.  Total funds set aside since the 2001 fiscal
year including net investment income have amounted to $152 million.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFIT LIABILITIES FOR HEALTHCARE
FACILITIES AND CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICE AGENCIES
EXCLUDED FROM THE OPERATING FUND
In the 2003 fiscal year, the Government disclosed a further significant exception to GAAP.
This exception was for the lack of recognition of the Operating Fund’s liability for
employee future benefits of health care facilities and child and family services agencies.
The liability reported by those entities for the year ended March 31, 2003 totaled $209
million and this liability was disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

A further discussion of this appears in the “Public Accounts - Improvements and
Recommendations” section of this report.

Balanced Budget Legislation

WHAT IS IT?
Balanced Budget Legislation, enacted in the fall of 1995 with amendments in 2000, is a
prescribed set of rules incorporated in legislation, in The Balanced Budget Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Act) (see Appendix F).  Those rules (with
variations from GAAP) are used to determine if the Government of the day has generated
a positive balance in the Operating Fund for a fiscal year, meaning generating more
revenue than the expenses incurred and factoring in transfers from the Fiscal
Stabilization Fund and to the Debt Retirement Fund.  According to the Act, the
Government is not to incur a negative balance in the Operating Fund.  The main rules are
as follows:

• An excess of revenue over expenses is determined according to the
accounting policies of the Government as disclosed in the audited
financial statements.  If there is a reservation in the Auditor’s Report to
the financial statements resulting from a change in accounting policies
not authorized in the Act, then the financial statements must be restated
to ensure that the financial effects of that change did not result in a
positive balance which would have otherwise, under the former
accounting policy(ies), have resulted in a negative balance.  If a change
in accounting policies did result in a change from a negative to a positive
balance, then the government will not have achieved a balanced budget.

• The existing accounting policies are disclosed as Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles for senior governments as recommended
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of
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Chartered Accountants with certain exceptions.  One notable exception is
the failure to record in the Operating Fund the liability related to the
unfunded pension obligations.  As a result, the change in the unfunded
pension liability is not reflected in the determination of a positive or a
negative balance.

• The Act permits a once a year interfund transfer, a transfer into the
Operating Fund, from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund, often referred to as
the “Rainy Day Fund”, of an amount up to the maximum of the balance of
the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  That transfer in is also included in the
determination of the balance according to balanced budget legislation.

• The Act also prescribes that as a target, an amount equal to 5% of the
year’s expenses in the Consolidated (Operating) Fund or any greater
amount that the Minister (of Finance) considers appropriate is to be
transferred to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  Only a positive balance may
be transferred back to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund for use in future
years.  The transfer out is not included in the determination of a positive
or negative balance according to balanced budget legislation.

• Any transfers out of the Debt Retirement Fund to the Operating Fund for
the repayment of the outstanding debt and pension obligations are not
included in the determination of a positive or negative balance according
to balanced budget legislation.

• A calculated amount, presently at $96 million, shall be transferred
annually, from the Operating Fund to the Debt Retirement Fund to provide
for the future retirement of the outstanding debt and pension
obligations.  That transfer out, an interfund transfer, is also to be
reflected in the determination of a positive or negative balance according
to balanced budget legislation.

• The above interfund transfers as noted are included for purposes of
determining if there is a positive balance in the Operating Fund,
according to balanced budget legislation.  However, interfund transfers
are not included in the determination of an excess of revenue over
expenses according to generally accepted accounting principles.

• Should there be a negative balance in a fiscal year then there must be an
offsetting positive balance in the next year unless there is a general
election and the party forming the Government has changed.  Then if, in
the year of a general election, the party forming the Government has
changed and there is a negative basis, the new government is not required
to have an offsetting positive balance in the following year.

• There are financial penalties to the members of the Executive Council for
failing to meet the requirements of the Act.

• The Act does not apply in the case of war or a natural disaster that affects
the Province which could not be anticipated or if there is greater than a
5% reduction in revenue in the fiscal year, providing the reduction did
not result from a change in Manitoba taxation laws.  The proceeds from
the sale of a Crown Corporation are not to be included in the
determination of a positive balance.
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Fiscal Stabilization Fund

WHAT IS IT?
The Fiscal Stabilization Fund (Fund) was established under the authority of The Fiscal
Stabilization Fund Act (Act) (see Appendix G), which was enacted in 1989 and was
amended in 2000.  The purpose of the Fund as set out in the Act is to assist in stabilizing
the fiscal position of the government from year to year and to improve long-term fiscal
planning.  The Fund is often referred to as the “Rainy Day Fund”.

In 1989, in its first year of existence, the Government of the day transferred $200 million
from the Operating Fund into the Fund.  That transfer created a $142 million deficit in
the Operating Fund where there would otherwise have been $58 million surplus for the
year ended March 31, 1989.  At the time, we qualified our opinion on the $58 million
surplus.  Since then there have been other sizable transfers into the Fund including the
net proceeds from the sale of the Crown Corporation, Manitoba Telephone System.

Legislative amendments were made to the Act in 2000.  Consequently, the Government
can no longer deposit in the fund any revenue or other financial assets received by the
Government in a fiscal year ending after March 31, 2000 as a result of selling shares or
assets of a Crown corporation in the course of a privatization of the Crown Corporation
and the Government can only transfer positive balances (from the Operating Fund) - the
transfer cannot create an annual deficit in the Operating Fund.

The primary activities of the Fund are interfund transfers.  The transfers are either
transfers out to the Operating Fund or transfers into the Fund from the Operating Fund.
The Fiscal Stabilization Fund also earns income on the investment of the assets of the
Fund, which is retained in the Fund until transferred out.

With regard to transfers into the Fund, the Government may deposit in the Fund, any
part of revenue or other financial assets received in the Operating Fund in any fiscal year.
Furthermore, the target level for the Fund is a minimum of 5% of the expense of the
Consolidated (Operating) Fund.

The Government may transfer out of the Fund, all or part of the Fund balance to the
Operating Fund, but the Government may only make one transfer out each fiscal year.

This Fund is used to facilitate the balancing of the Government’s actual annual financial
results.
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Improvements in Financial Statement
Presentation and Disclosure

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION AND
DISCLOSURE
We routinely advise the Comptroller and the Minister of Finance of opportunities to
improve financial statement presentation and disclosure in accordance with the current
recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).  The improvements
reflected in the Summary Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2003 are as
follows:

• Recognition of the unfunded liability for employee future benefits of non-
devolved health care facilities;

• Revision to the Statement of Net Debt to reflect the deferred charge for
non-devolved health care facilities as a component of net debt;

• Disclosure regarding the existence of environmental liabilities;

• Presentation of the Summary Budget figures on a basis consistent with
the presentation of the actual figures;

• Separate disclosure of both fixed and floating interest rates on
outstanding borrowings;

• Improvements in the disclosure of interest rates and repayment terms
(instalments due) on loans and advances;

• Separate disclosure of cash and cash equivalents, temporary and portfolio
investments with parallel treatment on the Statement of Cash Flow;

• Separate disclosure of the basis of accounting, market values and
investment income regarding cash and cash equivalents, temporary and
portfolio investments;

• Separate disclosure of the gross amounts of accounts receivable and the
valuation allowances for accounts receivable; and

• Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets reflects separate disclosure of
additions and disposals of tangible capital assets

Improving financial statement presentation and disclosure is an ongoing process.  We
commend the Government for the above improvements made to the Summary Financial
Statements.
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DISCLOSURE AND RECORDING OF EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFIT
LIABILITIES FOR HEALTHCARE FACILITIES AND CHILD AND
FAMILY SERVICES AGENCIES
During 2003, the Office of the Auditor General conducted a review of the symmetry
between the accounting principles of the Regional Health Authorities, Manitoba Health
and the Province of Manitoba.  The report on this review is presented in a later section.
The review provided additional information to our Office.

This information facilitated our discussion on the recording of employee future benefit
liabilities for the health care sector in the Special Purpose Financial Statements, the
financial statements for the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan, and, as well, as
improved recording and disclosure in the Summary Financial Statements.

For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2003, the Government disclosed in Note 1 of the
Special Purpose Financial Statements, a further significant exception to GAAP.  This
exception was the non-recognition of the Operating Fund’s liability for employee future
benefits of health care facilities and child and family service agencies.  The liability for
the year ended March 31, 2003 totalled $209 million.

We are pleased that the following agreement was reached with the Department of Finance
on the accounting policy for employee future benefits for both devolved and non-
devolved health care facilities in the Special Purpose Financial Statements, the Summary
Financial Statements, and the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan Financial
Statements, and the related impact on the financial statements of both devolved and non-
devolved health care facilities:

For the Special Purpose Financial Statements
• The liabilities for both the devolved and non-devolved health care

facilities were not, and will not be, accrued in the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004.  This is no change from preceding
years.  However, continuation of this long-standing practice was, and will
be, noted as an exception to GAAP.

• Note 1A.2) now states: “The liabilities for unfunded employee future
benefits associated with health care facilities and family service agencies
for which the government has funding responsibility are not recorded in
the Operating Fund”.  The Province has committed to record these
liabilities for the year ending March 31, 2005.

• Note 1D.5) now states: “Employee Future Benefits - The Province does not
presently record liabilities for the unfunded cost of employee future
benefits earned by employees of health care facilities and family service
agencies”.  The Province has committed to record these liabilities for the
year ending March 31, 2005.

• Note 10) now states: “Various funded organizations, primarily health care
facilities and child and family service agencies have recorded liabilities
for employee future benefits in their financial statements totalling $209
million (2002 - $182 million)”.  The Province has committed to record
these liabilities for the year ending March 31, 2005.
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• The liability for employee future benefits for the devolved and non-
devolved health care facilities and child and family service agencies will
be recorded for the year ended March 31, 2005 and forward.  The change
in the liability between March 31, 2004 and March 31, 2005 will be
recorded as an expense for the year ending March 31, 2005.  The
remaining amount will be adjusted to the accumulated deficit.  This
change will be reflected in the Budget for the year ended March 31, 2005.

For the Summary Financial Statements
• The liability for employee future benefits for the non-devolved health

care facilities was recorded in the Summary Financial Statements for the
year ended March 31, 2003 and forward.  This involved the recording of a
liability of approximately $75 million for the employee future benefits at
March 31, 2003.  This resulted in an increase in expenses of
approximately $6 million for the year’s then ended and an adjustment to
the accumulated deficit for the difference of $69 million.

For the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan
• The Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan will record the liability for

employee future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care
facilities together with the related amount receivable from the Province
for the years ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004.

• The Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan will record the liability for
employee future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care
facilities together with the related amount receivable from the Province
and the resultant expenses and revenue for the year ended March 31,
2005 and forward.

We commend the Government for their commitment to implement the above changes.

Recommendation Implemented

SAP CRITICAL REPORTS
The Province uses SAP R/3 (SAP) as an enterprise solution for its accounting, logistics
and human resource processes.  SAP is a fully integrated computerized accounting and
management information system and functions across multiple departments, agencies,
commissions and sites throughout Manitoba.  SAP allows for the sharing of common data,
so transactions initiated by one business area may have a direct impact on other business
areas.  The broad and detailed functionality that gives the system its flexibility often
results in complex control and security requirements.

Critical Standard Reports

In our review of the initial implementation of SAP and subsequent upgrade to 4.6b we
reported that the production and review of critical standard reports had not been
established as a required and/or regular activity for some processes.  Internal financial
information and reporting is important for monitoring the operations and security of the
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system.  Without appropriate reports prepared and monitored, incomplete, inaccurate or
unauthorized data may not be detected on a timely basis.

The Comptroller’s Office and Manitoba Information and Communication Technology (MICT),
formerly Enterprise Systems Management have made progress starting in 2001/02 on this
concern  through various initiatives including Manager’s Desktop (MDT), training classes
for Manager’s Desktop to departmental staff and a training class for financial reporting.

We conclude that Comptroller’s Office and MICT have identified critical standard reports
and have communicated to departments the importance of their use.

We commend the Government for identifying critical standard reports and
communicating the importance of their use to departments either through an enhanced
MDT or other processes.

Previous Recommendations Not Yet
Implemented

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

Summary Budget Presentation

Over the past two years, we have noted that, in response to our recommendation, the
Government has prepared an annual summary budget based on the budgets for all entities
included in the Government Reporting Entity and that this budget was presented each
year in the Manitoba Budget Address.  However, the most recent budget presented in
2003 is still not presented in the same format as the Summary Financial Statements.

In our view, the Summary Financial Statements and therefore, the Summary Budget are
the Government’s foremost accountability documents.  The arguments for the preparation
of a detailed summary budget are many.  One need only view Schedules 8 and 10 of the
Summary Financial Statements to become aware of the number of entities that compose
the Government Reporting Entity and the fact that considerable financial activity within
the Government Reporting Entity is outside of the Operating Fund.  Without a detailed
summary budget, the Legislative Assembly is not given the depth of financial information
necessary upon which to fully debate the planned use of public funds.  As well, it is the
comparison of the Summary Financial Statements’ actual results with that detailed
summary budget which permits a thorough analysis of the Province’s financial position
compared with planned results, and provides the ability to measure the Government’s
management of public resources.

Canada and five of the other Provinces produce summary budgets that are tabled in
Parliament/Legislatures.  The governments of Canada, British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario,
Quebec and New Brunswick have already made the summary budget their primary budget.
These summary budgets are prepared on the same basis as the Summary Financial
Statements of those governments.  Three of these six summary budgets are voted on by
the members of the Parliament/Legislatures.  Manitoba is still not aligned with these
jurisdictions in this regard.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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We continue to recommend that the Summary Budget should be presented on the same
basis as the Summary Financial Statements to enable a reader to fully compare the
budget to the Summary Financial Statements.

Recommendation 1

That the Government make the Summary Budget its primary tool for
explaining its financial plans to the citizens of Manitoba.  This would
be consistent with the decision to make the Summary Financial
Statements its primary financial reporting tool.  In essence, this
would mean framing the annual budget documents around the
Summary Budget, with the Operating Fund budget being shown in a
subsidiary context to demonstrate how the government plans to
comply with the Balanced Budget legislation and to highlight those
expenditures that will require legislative approval.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

The Government has made significant progress with respect to Summary
Financial Statements and Budget presentation for the Province of
Manitoba.  We introduced The Summary Statements in Volume 1 of Public
Accounts.  We have given these statements more prominence.  We have
identified the Operating Fund Statements as Special Purpose Statements,
in accordance with the Auditor General’s recommendations.  We introduced
the first Summary Budget presentation in Manitoba’s history in the 2001
Manitoba Budget.  And we have continued to improve on the information
presented in that regard each year.

While only three provinces currently vote their budgets on a summary
basis, we are prepared to re-examine the Summary Budget format and
consider whether a different presentation would be more helpful and
informative to the public, while respecting the Governance framework that
Manitoba has established for its Crown organizations, as well as the
existing laws of Manitoba with respect to balanced budgets.

Full Adoption of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The following recommendations were made previously to the Minister of Finance and have
yet to be implemented:

• Tangible capital for infrastructure is not recorded.  PSAB requires
infrastructure to be recorded.  Now that the PSAB Research Study on
Infrastructure has been released, the Government should establish a
timeline for the valuation and recognition of infrastructure in the
Summary Financial Statements.

• The Government still records material adjustments resulting from changes
in accounting policy or from the correction of an error which are
attributable to and identifiable with prior periods as an adjustment to the
accumulated deficit.  Prior year balances are not restated.  PSAB requires
changes in accounting policies or such corrections of an error to be
recorded retroactively with prior year balances restated.

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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Early implementation of the recommendations above would bring Manitoba closer to
fully adopting generally accepted accounting principles in the Summary Financial
Statements.

Changes to generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) adopted by the Assurance
Standards Board of the CICA effective October 1, 2003 may affect the content of the
Auditor’s Report for the 2004 fiscal year if the Special Purpose Financial Statements are
not prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
without exceptions.

If this change in GAAS had been in effect for the year ended March 31, 2003, we would
have included a fourth paragraph in our opinion indicating that the disclosed basis of
accounting is not fully in accordance with GAAP (there are presently a number of
exceptions to GAAP).

Recommendation 2

That the Government adopt generally accepted accounting principles
for the recording of tangible capital assets, changes in accounting
policies and correction of errors for both the Summary Financial
Statements and the Special Purpose Financial Statements for the 2004
fiscal year.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

Our examination of the implications of introducing capital assets
accounting principles for infrastructure is nearing completion.  We are
hopeful that this examination will provide a basis for further progress on
this issue.

With regard to restating prior year’s results where they are affected by
changes in accounting policy or the discovery of errors as they affect the
Summary Financial Statements, to date Manitoba Governments have
attached greater importance to the continuity of results from year to year
in our Financial Statements in the belief that this is more important to
citizens than continual restatements going back ten years or more in
response to changes in accounting standards.  Changes in prior period
numbers could also create doubt in the reader’s minds as to the reliability
of previously audited and reported results.

Quarterly Reporting

We have indicated previously in this report that we believe the quarterly financial report
should be prepared using the same accounting principles as the Summary Financial
Statements, as these provide the most complete and accurate indication of the
Government’s fiscal position.  When we have succeeded in persuading the Government to
adopt this good management practice, we will again raise the issue of a fourth quarter
report.  Accordingly, we have modified our recommendation on quarterly reporting to
reflect the higher priority issue of encouraging the Government to adopt GAAP in its
quarterly reports.

First recommended in the 2000
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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Recommendation 3

That the quarterly reports of the Province, a financial reporting tool,
be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

While this is a laudable objective in its own right, we are concerned that it
would require a significant increase in staff resources in the department
of Finance as well as other departments of government without adding
commensurate value to public services in the Province.

Our current quarterly reporting practices have been designed to provide
the public with a progress report as to whether or not the Government
continues to be on target in relation to its original plan.  Actual results, be
they based fully on GAAP or otherwise, are compared with results planned
on the same basis to provide the reader with an indication of whether or
not results are diverging from the plan.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS OF THE PROVINCE OF
MANITOBA
As reported last year, Manitoba prepares its Summary Financial Statements, with a
number of notable exceptions, in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards for Senior Governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  Those exceptions are
disclosed in the first note to the financial statements.

Four jurisdictions, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Saskatchewan and British Columbia prepare the
Public Accounts in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
senior governments.

In the preparation of the Estimates of Expenditures and Revenues and the Budget Address,
the Province uses the provisions of The Financial Administration Act (Act) as the basis for
financial accounting and reporting considerations.

According to this Act, Treasury Board is responsible under Section 5(a) for preparing the
estimates and similarly, under Section 5(f), for ensuring accountability of government
departments to the Legislature for the delivery of government programs.

Under Section 8, the Minister of Finance is responsible for the management and
administration of the Department of Finance; the management and administration of the
Consolidated Fund; the management of public debt; and the control and direction of all
matters relating to the financial management of the government that are not assigned to
Treasury Board.  In addition, Section 9 of this Act states that the Minister of Finance may
make regulations and issue directives regarding accounting policies and practices.

Section 65(1) of the Act requires that the Comptroller shall prepare the Public Accounts
including the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the
accounting policies of the government.  However, it does not state that the accounting

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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policies of the government must be in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards for senior governments as recommended by PSAB of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.  The Act does not, however, prohibit the use of Public
Sector Accounting Standards for Senior Governments as the basis for financial reporting
in the preparation of the Public Accounts, Estimates and Quarterly Reports.

The Province of British Columbia has entrenched in legislation the use of Public Sector
Accounting Standards for senior governments as recommended by PSAB of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants, in its Budget Transparency and Accountability Act.
This Act creates an accounting policy advisory committee to advise Treasury Board as to
the implementation of GAAP for the government reporting entity.  Treasury Board is to
establish the accounting policies used for preparation of the Main Estimates and the
Public Accounts.  In addition, Treasury Board is to establish the accounting policies used
for the preparation of Quarterly Reports.  It is implied that these accounting policies
should be GAAP unless otherwise disclosed.

British Columbia’s Budget Transparency and Accountability Act, also incorporates that
wherever, public sector accounting standards for senior governments are not used either
in the Estimates or the Public Accounts, there must be disclosure of any material
variances of those policies from GAAP.  In addition, with regard to Quarterly Reports, if
there is a change in the accounting policies of the government reporting entity which
would affect, by a prescribed dollar amount, the forecasted deficit or surplus for the
current and next three years, then there must be a public report of it.  Commencing in
the 2004/05 fiscal year, the Government of the Province of British Columbia will prepare
its Public Accounts in compliance with its Budget Transparency and Accountability Act
and report whether it has achieved a balanced budget in accordance with the Act.

We believe that entrenching in legislation the requirement to prepare all significant
public financial reports in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards
for Senior Governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants confirms a government ‘s intent to fully
adopt Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards as many jurisdictions have done.

Recommendation 4

That the Government consider amending The Financial Administration
Act to require that Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards for
Senior Governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, without
exceptions (GAAP), be the basis of accounting for all government
financial reporting including the Summary Financial Statements, the
Summary Budget and the Quarterly Reports.

Alternatively, we recommend that the Government formally commit to
the full adoption of GAAP by a certain date.

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

The Government is mindful of and accepts the role of PSAB in
recommending accounting standards and changes in accounting policies
for Senior Governments.  As such, the Government continues to develop its
accounting policies with due regard to the standards being recommended
by that body.  However, governments duly elected by the public have a
responsibility to study how changes proposed may affect the operations of
government rather than automatically implementing changes in standards
proposed by an unelected body.  The Auditor General’s report highlights
some of the significant progress the Province has made in improving the
Government’s accounting practices to PSAB standards without legislation.
We will continue to work to build on this progress.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CLEARING ACCOUNT
During the 2003 fiscal year, the Government began addressing the problems regarding the
outstanding balances in the foreign exchange clearing account.  In the past we found
that the balances in the foreign exchange clearing account, which should have cleared
monthly, were being offset by the overstatement of foreign exchange translation of the
US dollar bank accounts to arrive at the proper net amount.

As we noted last year, the fundamental problem was the design of SAP together with the
fact that no one had been designated to ensure that the account was cleared monthly.
Action has been taken with regard to both problems through changes in the use of SAP,
and by staff monitoring the account. However, there are still irregularities in the
accounts.  The clearing account is being cleared on a current basis and the combined
total of the Canadian dollar foreign exchange translation of the balances of the US dollar
bank accounts is accurate.  However, the clearing of the clearing accounts results in the
Canadian dollar translation of the individual US dollar bank accounts balances being
misstated.  In addition, the US dollar bank account balances are translated in accordance
with the Province’s accounting policy of average exchange rates rather than the year end
exchange rate.

Recommendation 5

That the Department of Finance take the additional action necessary
to completely address these misstatements and in addition adjust the
Canadian dollar translation of the balances of the US dollar bank
accounts to the year end exchange rate in accordance with PSAB
standards, rather than average exchange rate currently used.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

The Department of Finance has investigated the cause of the translation
differential contained within the individual US dollar accounts when
translated into Canadian dollar balances.  Steps have been taken to ensure
that the accounts are translated using the noon spot rate as at March 31,
2004.

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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CREATION OF A PENSION ASSETS FUND
The Government created a Pension Assets Fund to reflect the designated assets set aside
for the future retirement of the Government’s unfunded pension liability as we
recommended last year.

The Pension Assets Fund properly reflects the existence and ownership of the pension
assets as part of the total assets included in the determination of the Accumulated Fund
Surpluses (Deficits) of the Province on the Special Purpose Financial Statements.
Effectively, by creating the Pension Assets Fund, the Government has improved its net
debt position on the Special Purpose Financial Statements by $152 million. Formerly, the
opening balance of $107 million was reported as trust assets and trust liabilities.

Recommendation 6

That in accordance with public sector accounting standards, pension
asset composition detail should be disclosed in the notes to the
Summary Financial Statements.  The assets should be reported by their
classification, for example, portfolio investments and not be referred
to as pension assets on the balance sheet.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

In response to the Auditor General’s recommendation last year, the
government responded by displaying the pension assets in 2003.  We will
examine this additional recommendation for the 2003-2004 financial
statements.

ROLE OF INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING SERVICES
The Internal Audit and Consulting Services Branch of the Department of Finance provides
internal audit and consulting services to management throughout government.  All
government departments have access to internal audit services through requesting work/
assistance that Internal Audit may then incorporate into their annual plans for what they
assess to be high priority matters.

An effective internal audit function enhances the control environment of the entity.

Internal Audit and Consulting Services was involved initially in the implementation of
SAP through participation in the Process and Systems Integrity Team which was
responsible for providing expert advice, guidance and integration of all aspects of
internal control and system security for the SAP project.

SAP is an extremely complex system.  Internal Audit and Consulting Services, given the
nature of internal audit work, should play a significant role in providing assurance as to
the effectiveness of controls at the department levels since Go–Live.  Ongoing
involvement would give Internal Audit and Consulting Services the opportunity to add
value to the reliability and accuracy of this high priority government-wide system on a
continuous basis.

Last year we recommended that Internal Audit and Consulting Services take a lead role on
an annual basis in the review and testing of SAP controls at the departmental level.

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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Over the 2002/03 fiscal year, Internal Audit and Consulting Services’ indicated to us that:

“... a significant amount of testing of SAP controls is being built into ongoing
audit plans.  These activities were continued in 2003.  Additionally, there
was a commencement of a government-wide payroll and benefits audit
plan.”

We also noted this year that the revised Comptrollership Framework distributed in
October 2003 makes reference to an audit function in monitoring compliance with the
authority delegated by the Comptroller to the Departments, related to internal control
systems among other responsibilities. The recognition of the need for an audit function is
consistent with our belief that Internal Audit and Consulting Services should have
significant role in providing assurance as to the effectiveness of controls at the
departmental level as they relate to SAP.

Recommendation 7

That Internal Audit and Consulting Services continue to expand its
role on an annual basis to systematically, according to a documented
plan, review and test SAP controls in the departments.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

Public accounts audit testing has always been the responsibility of the
Auditor General’s office.  Internal Audit and Consulting Services (IA&CS)
provides internal audit services across the Government.  As outlined in our
response to the recommendation in 2002, a significant amount of testing
of SAP controls is built into these ongoing audit plans.  These activities
were continued in 2003.  Additionally, there was a commencement of
government-wide payroll and benefits audit plan.  Presently, there is no
plan in place to specifically reallocate resources from current internal
audit activities which would allow the Auditor General’s Office to reduce
public accounts audit testing.  We continue to support a cooperative audit
approach and IA&CS will continue to share relevant findings with the
Auditor General’s Office.

SAP VERSION 4.6B UPGRADE

SAP R/3

The Government of Manitoba (Government) uses SAP R/3 (SAP) as an enterprise solution
for its accounting, logistics and human resource processes.  SAP is a fully integrated
computerized accounting and management information system and functions across
multiple departments, agencies, commissions and sites throughout Manitoba.  SAP allows
for the sharing of common data, so transactions initiated by one business area may have
a direct impact on other business areas.  The broad and detailed functionality that gives
the system its flexibility often results in complex control and security requirements.

Our office identified that the complexity of the controls and security requirements of
SAP creates a new set of challenges to be addressed, as we need to rely on SAP in the

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200328

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

audit of Public Accounts.  To this end, we performed a review of the controls over SAP in
the initial implementation of SAP version 3.1h, and we issued a report on the results of
our review.  A summary of this report was included in the March 31, 1999 Public
Accounts Report to the Legislature.

The Government upgraded from SAP version 3.1h to version 4.6b in November 2000.  We
reviewed the upgrade to determine if there were any changes due to the upgrade that
would affect our reliance on the controls over SAP in our audit of Public Accounts.  A
summary of this report was included in the March 31, 2001 Public Accounts Report to
the Legislature.

For both the initial SAP implementation as well as the 4.6b upgrade there were three
areas which we considered the most critical and were reported on previously.  In our
2001 Report to the Legislature we stated that we would provide  to the departments
reports detailing  our recommendations based on review of the 4.6b upgrade. We have
issued separate reports to the departments and our follow-up on the implementation of
those recommendations indicates that there is still further action that needs to be taken
by the departments in this regard. Going forward, we will address the key outstanding
issues with the Comptroller’s Office to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

The most critical areas of prior years’ recommendations still relate to those provided
below.

1. Access to SAP by Departmental Managers

In our prior reviews there were several recommendations regarding access
to SAP by Departmental managers.

We had recommended that departmental managers be provided with
access to SAP and that the management tasks be removed from
administrative staff as soon as possible.  During 2001/02 there was an
initiative for providing targeted access to SAP through the Manager’s
Desktop (MDT) program.  Manager’s Desktop provides managers with
immediate access to a defined subset of management reports for  human
resources and financial information.  While approximately 350 managers
attended Manager’s Desktop training and went “live” on SAP in 2001/02
we understand this increased to only 379 for 2002/03. MDT continues to
be rolled out but it is still not mandatory that managers access it.
Increasing MDT’s use as well as expanding its functionality should
continue to be explored.

While MDT provided access to specific reports in SAP, our recommendation
in regard to not having administrative staff complete management tasks
on SAP, has yet to be met.

Recommendation 8

That Manager’s Desktop be expanded to encompass all managers,
additional functionality be provided, the use of it encouraged and that
management tasks be removed from administrative staff as soon as
possible and moved back to departmental managers where they

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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appropriately belong. In addition, the Government should set a target
date for the implementation of this recommendation.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

We accept as a general goal the rollout of Manager’s Desktop to every
manager in Government with an acknowledgement that this will have to be
accomplished over a reasonable time frame.  In the interim, we note that
there are a number of areas in Government where managers have
developed off-line control processes that provide Executive Financial
officers in their respective departments with satisfactory assurance that
the control environment is appropriate.  The pace of moving to more
complete rollout will be determined by resource availability and the
comparative value that may be added by faster action in this area.

We recommended that the Comptroller’s Office reinforce the importance to
departments of ensuring the delegated authorities are properly
represented in SAP or that differences from the delegated authority levels
to the levels set in SAP have been approved and documented.  During
2002/03, an SAP report was developed to assist departments to assess the
SAP authority levels, and to ensure compatibility and comparability.
Distribution of the report to departments occurred at the December 2002
Council of Executive Finance Officers (CEFO) meeting.  In accordance with
the Comptrollership Framework, it is the responsibility of each individual
department, rather than a central function, to review delegated
authorities and have the appropriate documentation.

In the past year, we found that while progress has been made with regard
to documenting and approving differences from the delegated authority
levels, there were still deficiencies.  All differences from delegated
authorities represented in SAP should be identified and the approval and
documentation of that approval is still required.

Recommendation 9

That the Comptroller’s Office, through a  monitoring of the
Departments’ accountability, ensure that all departments’  delegated
authorities are properly represented in SAP or that differences from
those delegated authorities are approved and documented.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

This is an ongoing activity, integral to the overall implementation of SAP
which continues to be led by the Comptroller’s Office.  This responsibility
has been communicated to all departments.  Additionally, departments are
being required to ensure the issue is addressed in their departmental
Comptrollership plans.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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We previously recommended that Manitoba Information and
Communication Technology (MICT), formerly ESM prepare lists of
incompatible functions by department.  Each department should be
provided with their specific list for review and approval.  This process
should be updated on a regular basis to ensure that departments are
aware of staff members with incompatible functions and that departments
have controls to compensate for the increased exposure to risk.

During 2002/03 an SAP report was developed which assisted departments
in identifying incompatible functions. It was first distributed to
Departmental Executive Finance Officers in June 2002 for their review.
Each individual department is responsible for the review, on a regular
basis, of the existence of incompatible functions and for documenting the
compensating controls should any incompatibilities exist.

The SAP report used the original role matrix of incompatible functions as
of April 1, 1999.  There has been some review at the Council of Executive
Finance Officers and we understand consideration is being given to further
reviewing the role matrix for changes since Go–Live.

During the past year, we found instances in the departments where there
are incompatible roles without documentation regarding the
compensating controls.  As a result of our review, several departments
eliminated incompatible roles, either because the roles were found to be
no longer necessary, or to address the identified role conflicts.

Recommendation 10

That the Comptroller’s Office, through a monitoring of departmental
accountability, ensure that departments review the incompatible
functions on a regular basis and that departments maintain
documentation on compensating controls should incompatibilities
exist.  The role matrix should be updated, reconcile to
incompatibilities noted on MICT’s intranet site and should document
why a combination of functions/roles is incompatible so that
departments can understand why they are incompatible and better
able them to document the required compensating controls.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

This activity is continuing.  This responsibility has been communicated to
all departments.  Additionally, departments are being required to address
this issue in their departmental Comptrollership plans.

The matrix itself will be revisited in conjunction with the planned upgrade
to the next version SAP in 2004-2005 and the revised matrix, together
with rationale, will be communicated to departments.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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2. Business Continuity Plan for Manitoba Information and
Communication Technology (MICT)

We previously recommended that a comprehensive business continuity
plan be put in place by the Government covering the SAP application.
Business continuity plans are necessary to restore critical business
activities in the event of a disaster.  They specify how alternate facilities
and SAP processing capabilities will be provided to continue and restore
operations within a planned timeframe.  Without a business continuity
plan, users may be unable to access SAP.

An effective disaster recovery plan is one aspect of a business continuity
plan.  During 2002, MICT (formerly ESM) successfully completed the
implementation of a significant step in their Disaster Recovery Plan.  This
involved establishing an interim facility to house an alternative
computing environment for the SAP system.

Furthermore, the presence of this Disaster Recovery site will minimize
disruption of access to the SAP system in the event of an unforeseen event
or disaster at the primary site.  Our understanding last year was that
operating procedures relating to the Disaster Recovery plan were to be
updated in the near future.  Disaster Recovery procedures should include
testing as a normal part of operations.  Currently, this documentation
requires further development.

In addition, we understand that an initial Business Continuity Plan has
been drafted for MICT but still requires further development prior to it
being approved and implemented.  The Business Continuity Plan would
address only what would happen should a business interruption occur at
MICT.

Recommendation 11

That a well thought out and effective Business Continuity Plan for
MICT should be developed, documented and tested to minimize the
risk of disruptions caused by unforeseen events.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

Improving disaster recovery capacity has been a focus of significant effort
for the last several years.  For example, A Disaster Recovery (D/R) site was
established in 2002 and a corresponding Plan has been developed that
addresses the coverage around the SAP application.  Operating procedures
to affect the plan have been developed and tested at the site.  The plan
was tested this past summer.  We are pleased to report that production
SAP services were successfully run on the D/R site for a three week period.
There were no issues or degradation in service levels.  Personnel have
been assigned and trained in the execution of the plan.  Associated
documentation outlining the D/R plan is being revised to reflect the recent
hardware upgrade.  MICT expects to complete the D/R documentation by
end of March 2004.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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Coincident with this work being completed, and consistent with the Auditor
General’s recommendation, the newly created MICT intends to re-focus
efforts on development of a comprehensive and effective Business
Continuity Plan in relation to the Government’s SAP installation.

New Recommendations

NEW GOVERNMENT REPORTING MODEL IMPLEMENTATION
The New Government Reporting Model now in the PSAB Handbook is required to be
implemented by Provinces no later than the 2005/06 fiscal year.  Manitoba has not yet
adopted the New Government Reporting Model but has incorporated the recognition of
tangible capital assets and an expense basis of accounting.  We have provided an example
of the application of the New Government Reporting Model to the presentation of the
2003 Summary Financial Statements below.  Changes that would be needed from the
existing presentation of Manitoba’s Summary Financial Statements are highlighted in bold
italic.

Recommendation 12

That the Government formally commit to a date for implementation of
the new Government Reporting Model.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS

We note that this requirement is not effective until the 2005-2006 fiscal
year.  In the meantime, we will work diligently to ensure this target date is
met and, if possible, exceeded.  We believe it is important to ensure that
where liabilities of external entities are included in summary statements,
the associated assets are reflected as an offset to those liabilities.
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THE ELIMINATION OF A SEPARATE AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Currently, The Financial Administration Act section 65(1)(a) requires the preparation of
financial statements of the Consolidated Fund and that the financial statements be
accompanied by a report of the Auditor General on his examination of the financial
statements.  The Consolidated Fund of the Public Accounts is more commonly known as
the Operating Fund and its financial position and annual operations are included in the
Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements.

In many respects, the Government of the Province of Manitoba still emphasizes the
importance of the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements
over the Summary Financial Statements.  The Special Purpose Financial Statements are
prepared primarily in order to reflect compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Balanced Budget Legislation).  While it is
important for the Government to determine its compliance with Balanced Budget
Legislation, disclosure of that information could easily be provided in the Summary
Financial Statements in a note or schedule to the Summary Financial Statements.

In keeping with the appropriateness of emphasizing the Summary Financial Statements,
we believe that the Government should reflect any key information from the Special
Purpose Financial Statements in the Summary Financial Statements (in the notes to the
financial statements) as well as combine in the Summary Financial Statements, budget
information from the Operating Fund (Estimates of Expenditure and Revenues) with
detailed budget information from Crown organizations.  This would eliminate the need
for the preparation of the Special Purpose Financial Statements and reduce the risk of
confusion caused by having two sets of financial statements publicly presented each year.

Recommendation 13

We recommend that the Government consider introducing amendments
to the Financial Administration Act to eliminate the requirement for
separate Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund) financial statements and
therefore combine the detailed budget information from the
Operating Fund with similarly detailed information from Crown
organizations to report detailed Summary Budget information in the
Summary Financial Statements.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

Previously we indicated that we believe that Manitobans expect a report on
the operations of Government and its departments in the same manner
that they expect a report on the operations of each Crown Corporation.
The details of each entity is contained in the separate financial statements
it presents.  And the overall operations of the larger Crown entity are fully
reflected in the Summary Financial Statements.  Thus there is full and
complete reporting at the present time.  In fact, the Auditor General
previously commended the Government for the significant progress
achieved on the Summary Financial Statements.
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CROSS-JURISDICTIONAL COMPARISON OF THE USE OF
FINANCIAL INDICATORS IN THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
ANNUAL REPORT
In September 1997, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) released a
formal publication entitled, Indicators of Government Financial Condition.  This
publication was released as a research report and it directly addresses the need to
understand the financial health of governments.  The CICA suggests ten financial
indicators for consideration when assessing sustainability, flexibility and vulnerability.
The CICA offers the following definitions to help guide this initiative:

“The financial condition of a government is its financial health as measured
by sustainability, vulnerability, and flexibility, looked at in the context of
the overall economic and financial environment.  These terms are defined
as follows:

• Sustainability:  the degree to which a government can maintain existing
programs and meet existing creditor requirements without increasing the
debt burden on the economy.

• Flexibility:  the degree to which a government can increase its financial
resources to respond to rising commitments, by either expanding its
revenues or increasing its debt burden.

• Vulnerability:  the degree to which a government becomes dependent on,
and therefore vulnerable to, sources of funding outside its control or
influence, both domestic and international.”

The cross-jurisdictional comparison indicates that there are only three financial
indicators that are used by five or more jurisdictions.  They are follows:

Sustainability:  Net Debt as a percentage of GDP

Flexibility:  Debt Servicing Costs as a percentage of revenues

Vulnerability:  Federal Transfers as a percentage of revenues

In comparison with other jurisdictions (see Figure 1), Manitoba ranks positively in terms
of the number of financial indicators used in its Annual Report of the Public Accounts,
including the provision of indicators from all three categories, sustainability, flexibility
and vulnerability.
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FIGURE 1
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Currently, the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the CICA has turned its attention
to developing a statement of recommended practices on Financial Statement Discussion
and Analysis (FSD&A).  The statement is expected to provide guidance in “reporting
information useful in evaluating an entity’s financial condition and financial and non-
financial performance”.1  “PSAB has decided FSD&A should be discretionary disclosure and
not form part of GAAP”.2  While it is reasonable to include financial indicators as part of
the information provided, it is only part of information planned to be addressed in
FSD&A.  Complete performance reporting is more broadly based.

The FSD&A has recently completed the exposure draft stage of development and PSAB is
considering the feedback provided by respondents to the exposure draft.  It is
anticipated that the FSD&A will be completed in the near term.

The exposure draft indicates that the intent of the FSD&A is to highlight key information
underlying the Summary Statement of Financial Position and the changes in financial
position (Summary Statement of Revenue and Expense).  This includes identifying
significant relationships among the numerical information as well as provide
explanations and illustrations of trends and the changes in the annual results.

The exposure draft also recommends providing information on significant risks and
uncertainties facing government and the strategies and policies that it has adopted to
address those risks and uncertainties.  A government’s analysis could also include
significant changes between the current year’s results and the prior year’s, and between
the current year’s actual results and the budget (Estimates of Expenditure and Revenue).
In addition, there could also be a discussion of the changes that occurred which are not
readily apparent from the numerical information alone.

Further, the exposure draft recommends that the discussion and analysis could be in
plain language and center on major issues, thereby providing useful and easy to
understand information to the citizens of Manitoba.

We will be encouraging the Government to adopt the FSD&A recommendations when
they have been approved by PSAB.

EXAMPLE OF ACCUMULATIVE IMPACT ON OPERATING FUND
RESULTS FROM NON-GAAP ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE
OPERATING FUND
The Province‘s current accounting policy is not to restate prior year’s financial
statements as a result of a change in accounting policy or a correction of an error.  This
accounting policy is not in accordance with GAAP and is disclosed as an exception to
GAAP in the Notes of the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial
Statements, and in the Notes of the Summary Financial Statements.  The policy not to
restate prior years’ figures results in all the restatements being applied to the
Accumulated Deficit.  As well, more importantly, the policy of not recording pension
expenses through the Operating Fund has a significant cumulative impact on the
Statement of Revenue and Expense.  As well, there has never been an adjustment to the
Accumulated Deficit of the Operating Fund for pension expenses.

2 PSAB Current Project Update

Summary, September 2003

1 Financial Statement Discussion

and Analysis, Exposure Draft, July
2003, Overview
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The lack of restatement for a correction of an error or a change in accounting policy
improperly affects operating results reported on the Statement of Revenue and Expense
and the accumulated surplus.  As outlined below, had the excess of revenue over expenses
in the Statement of Revenue and Expense been restated, the impact of the restatements
that occurred over the previous four fiscal years would have reduced the positive
balances thereby requiring a drawdown on the Fiscal Stabilization Fund by an aggregate
of $178 million (excluding the effects of the change in interest earned on the Fund’s
invested balance).  The net impact on the draw down from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund
reflects the amount that would have required from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund in order
to achieve a balanced budget in that particular fiscal year had the errors and changes in
accounting policies been restated in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

FIGURE 2
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Pension expense, also not flowed through the Statement of Revenue and Expense, is
estimated to exceed $2 billion for the period from 1989 to 2003.  The expense related to
the effects of restatements for the same period, 1989 through 2003, also not reported on
the Statement of Revenue and Expense, combined with the unrecorded pension expense is
estimated to exceed $3.0 billion.

If pension expenses and changes in accounting policy or corrections of errors had been
recorded in accordance with GAAP in the Operating Fund, the Fiscal Stabilization Fund
would be depleted.

Recommendation 14

That pension expense and any restatements affecting the
determination of an excess of revenue over expense (positive
balance) for purposes of Balanced Budget Legislation be recorded in
accordance with GAAP, and that amendments to Balanced Budget
Legislation be introduced to reference the Summary Financial
Statements, not the Operating Fund Financial Statements, as the
financial statements used in the determination of a balanced budget.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

Balanced budget legislation continues to reflect the intentions of the
original drafters as enacted by the Legislative Assembly.  This proposed
change in policy by the Auditor General is a significant deviation from
that framework, which could have significant implications for public
services.

We are pleased that the Auditor General has reflected positively in the
past on the Government’s initiatives to address the pension liability issue.
Those efforts are continuing.

ACCOUNTING FOR INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS
At present, while the Summary Financial Statements do reflect the recognition of certain
tangible capital assets, that recognition does not extend to tangible capital assets
related to infrastructure. The major categories of the Province of Manitoba’s
infrastructure systems include highways, bridges, and water and sewer systems including
the Winnipeg floodway.

The lack of recognition of infrastructure assets was reflected in the Summary Financial
Statements as an exception to generally accepted accounting principles for senior
governments.

The Government also stated in the Summary Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2003 that the process to establish the completeness and reasonableness of the
estimated historical cost of infrastructure and to develop reporting policies in order to
recognize infrastructure is ongoing.

PSAB Handbook section PS 3150.09 has been amended to require tangible capitals assets
to be reported as assets on the statement of financial position effective for fiscal years
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beginning on or after April 1, 2005. This change is consistent with PSAB’s adoption of
the new government reporting model, referred to in the Improvements in Financial
Statement Presentation and Disclosure (Public Accounts-Improvements and
Recommendations) section of this report, which requires the recognition of tangible
capital assets including infrastructure.

The Government advised us that it was awaiting the release of the PSAB Research Study
on Accounting for Infrastructure in the Public Sector for its expected guidance in
developing appropriate accounting policies. The research study was published in early
2003 and its recommendations reinforce the recommendations of section PS 3150.

The key accounting policy recommendation is that infrastructure assets subsequent to
acquisition, which encompasses most of the Province of Manitoba’s infrastructure assets,
should be recorded at historical cost with disclosure of infrastructure costs using current
depreciated reproduction cost.

Current depreciated reproduction cost refers to an inflation adjusted valuation using the
cost to reproduce the asset reduced by accumulated amortization (depreciation) to
reflect the remaining useful life of the asset.  Reproduction cost is different from
replacement cost in that replacement cost usually includes the impact of technological
improvements affecting service potential and/or cost as opposed to reproduction cost
which is defined as the cost to reproduce the asset in substantially the identical form.

The challenge for the Government is to accumulate the appropriate information necessary
to apply this accounting policy consistently within each of the various infrastructure
systems or at least within a component of a system. Now that the research study is
available, the Government can use its guidance to assist in defining the detailed
application of its accounting policy(ies) including the appropriate amortization policies
as well as in developing a range of other useful management information. This
information gathering process as mentioned earlier has already commenced.

Recommendation 15

We recommend that the Government set a firm target date for the
completion of its information gathering and the establishment of
appropriate accounting policies for the recognition of the major
infrastructure systems in the Summary Financial Statements.

RESPONSE OF OFFICIALS

We have made a great deal of progress in examining the implications of
introducing capital accounting principles for infrastructure.  We will re-
examine our efforts in this area and determine whether further
acceleration is feasible.
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Who Conducts the Audits
The Auditor General’s Office audits many of the crown organizations and government
enterprises included in the Government Reporting Entity, and many others are audited by
private sector auditors appointed by the Government.  Consequently, we place reliance on
the audit work and opinions of the private sector auditors in forming the audit opinion
on the Summary Financial Statements.  We obtain written representations from the
private sector auditors regarding their independence and compliance with generally
accepted auditing standards.  We also perform additional auditing procedures, as we
consider necessary, to fulfill our broader reporting responsibilities to the Legislative
Assembly.

Appendix E lists those government entities audited by the Auditor General’s Office and
those audited by private sector auditors.

Relationship with Private Sector Auditors

THE AUDITOR GENERAL ACT
The Auditor General, as the auditor of the Public Accounts of the Government of the
Province of Manitoba, reports on whether the Government’s Summary Financial
Statements are fairly presented in accordance with public sector accounting standards.

As many of the financial statements of government entities included in the Government
Reporting Entity are audited by private sector auditors, the Auditor General must also be
able to rely on the work of these external auditors.  The Auditor General Act (Act)
clarified the Auditor General’s authority over the external auditors and the
responsibilities of the external auditors to the Auditor General as auditors of government
entities.  Section 13 of the Act authorizes the Auditor General to rely on the report of an
external auditor of a government entity in order to fulfill the Auditor General’s
responsibilities as the auditor of the government accounts.  Professional auditing
standards, namely section 6930 of the CICA Assurance Handbook, permit reliance on the
work of another auditor provided that the Auditor General is satisfied that the audit
conducted has been properly planned, executed, completed and reported.

In addition, as we reported last year, the Act was proclaimed in early May 2002, and
since then we have expanded our role in the financial statement audits of government
entities audited by the private sector auditors.  Our expanded role encompassed a review
of the planning, execution and completion stages of the audits performed by these
auditors.

Excerpts from the Act are provided below:

Planning

The Auditor General may require the external auditor of government entities to provide
the Auditor General with a description of the proposed scope of the audit before the
audit is begun.  The Auditor General may then require changes to be made in the scope of
the audit.  [Section 12(1) of the Act]
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Execution

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor conduct
additional examinations relating to the financial statements.  [Section 12(2)(b) of the
Act]

Completion

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor to provide the
Auditor General with a copy of the proposed audit opinion, the draft financial
statements, and any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial
statements.  [Section 12(2)(a) of the Act]

The Auditor General may require an external auditor to give the Auditor General a copy
of the audit working papers.  [Section 12(3) of the Act]

Reporting

As soon as an audit is completed, an external auditor must give the Auditor General a
copy of the audit opinion on the financial statements of a government organization and
any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial statements.
[Section 12(4) of the Act]

Report to the Legislative Assembly

The Auditor General has the authority to report to the Legislative Assembly on any
matter he or she may wish attention to and make recommendations regarding any audit
conducted by an external auditor under Section 12.  [Section 10(3) of the Act]

RELIANCE ON THE WORK OF PRIVATE SECTOR AUDITORS
Early in the 2002/03 audit cycle, we met with the Chief Executive Officers and the Chief
Financial Officers of Crown organizations included in the Government Reporting Entity, as
well as representatives from the private sector audit firms conducting the financial
statement audits of these entities.  At these meetings we clarified the role our Office
would be taking in these audits, and set out our specific expectations regarding required
correspondence, communications and time-lines.

The Office of the Auditor General then issued letters to the external auditors requiring
them to comply with Sections 12(1), 12(2) and 12(4) of the Act.  Specifically, the
external auditors were to provide to our Office, draft audit plans before the
commencement of the audit field work and draft audit opinions and financial statements
prior to finalizing the audit.  The auditors were also directed to provide signed audit
opinions and management letters.

Review of Draft Planning Memoranda, Financial Statements and
Auditors’ Reports

We received 51 draft planning memoranda from private sector auditors, which we
reviewed and made recommendations for changes on 5 of those audit plans.
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Similarly, we also received and reviewed 51 draft financial statements and auditors’
reports.  We provided recommendations on 46 draft financial statements. We had no
recommendations on 5 of the draft financial statements.

Of the 46 draft financial statements for which we made recommendations, 35 draft
financial statements were amended, 3 draft financial statements were partially amended,
deferring certain changes in those 3 draft financial statements until next year.  With
respect to the other 11 draft financial statements, the changes we recommended were
also deferred until next year.

The recommended changes included presentation and disclosure matters in the financial
statements and in the notes to the financial statements.

In accordance with our cyclical review schedule, we reviewed 18 of the external auditors’
working paper files including the audit working paper files for all of the large
government enterprises.

We communicated with the external auditors at each stage of the overview.

As a result of our reliance process regarding Crown organizations’ financial statement
audits, we increased the involvement of our Office with the audit processes and by
attending more Board and Audit Committee meetings.  Through our review of the draft
financial statements of Crown Organizations prior to finalization, we also contributed to
improved public sector financial reporting.  Our impact on their financial statements
included clearer and expanded note disclosure and improved asset and liability
classification and description.

In the case of our overview work with respect to Special Operating Agencies’ (SOAs)
financial statement audits, we were able to improve the overall disclosure and
consistency of presentation among these organizations.  Our work with the individual
SOAs contributed towards a more accurate and consistent compilation of the results of
the individual SOAs in the financial statements of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority.

Manitoba Housing and Renewal
Corporation

FOLLOW-UP OF LAST YEAR’S RECOMMENDATION
Last year we noted that in conducting our 2001/02 audit of Manitoba Housing and
Renewal Corporation (MHRC) that MHRC had significantly drawn down its reserve for
Modernization and Improvement (M&I) in order to fund a large portion of its 2001/02
M&I program.  We further noted that while the Legislature had appropriated funds for
M&I, as set out in the Estimates of Expenditure, a large amount of these funds were not
expended.

We reported that a documented policy to guide the use of the M&I reserve fund was not
in place.  However, we noted that when the fund was initially established, it was
management’s intention that the funds be used for significant, non-recurring projects
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throughout the Province.  Last year, we found that funds drawn from the reserve in
2001/02 were not specifically linked to non-recurring M&I projects.

Accordingly, we recommended that Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation (MHRC)
develop a policy regarding the use of the Modernization and Improvement (M&I) Reserve
Fund and also develop a multi-year plan for the use of the fund. We further recommended
that the Board of MHRC approve the policy and the plan.

During the 2003 fiscal year, we found that the Corporation had addressed our
recommendation.  The Corporation documented and the Board approved a Policy
Statement regarding the use of the M&I Reserve Fund.  However, the need for a multi-
year plan for the use of the M&I Reserve Fund beyond the 2004 fiscal has become
unnecessary because the Reserve Fund is expected to be fully depleted as at March 31,
2004.  MHRC does not anticipate that any funds will be available in the near future to
replenish the M&I Reserve Fund.

MHRC’s Policy Statement is provided below:

POLICY STATEMENT

The MHRC will determine on an annual basis, as part of the department’s
annual Estimates process, the level of funding it will use from the Special
M&I Provision Fund to complete the major anticipated capital expenditures.

Additional requirements to draw on the Special M&I Provision Fund may be
identified throughout any fiscal year to address unscheduled or emergency
M&I work which were either moved forward due to earlier than anticipated
failures or were not included in the multi-year modernization and
improvement plan.

All annual funding levels, changes or additional funding requirements,
including the amounts to be drawn from the Special M&I Provision Fund,
will be approved by the Board of Directors of The Manitoba Housing and
Renewal Corporation.

Performance Reporting by Crown Entities
In December 2002, the Auditor General released a report entitled, Performance Reporting
In Annual Reports: Current Practices Among Crown Entities1.  The report presents a set of
attributes of effective performance reporting and an assessment of a sample of 40% of
2000/01 annual reports of crown entities in relation to those attributes.  The report
concluded that while there is widespread support for performance measurement and
reporting among the crowns we interviewed, crown entities have a long way to go to
meet the attributes described in the report.  Figure 3 presents a summary of the key
findings in relation to each attribute.

Legislators and the electorate should have easy access to information on the performance
of their crown entities.  One of the easiest ways to make performance information readily
available is to incorporate it into annual reports.  In this way, all those who want
performance information receive the same information.

1  In the report, “crown entities”
refers to crown organizations and
crown enterprises listed in
Schedule 8 of the Summary
Financial Statements in The
Province of Manitoba Annual Report
for the Year Ended March 31, 2001
with the exception of special
operating agencies.  We excluded
special operating agencies from
this review because they are part
of a departmental structure and
do not operate under an
appointed board of directors.
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FIGURE 3



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200352

CROWN ORGANIZATIONS AND GOVERNMENT ENTERPRISES

FIGURE 3 (CONT’D.)

The report is intended to encourage communication of more performance information of
a sort that enables Manitobans to readily determine the contribution and value-added
that their crown entities make through their operations.  Through enhanced sharing of
performance information, accountability is enhanced.

The report contains eight recommendations.  Among them:

• That the Government of Manitoba establishes a Government-wide
corporate framework within which crown entities can develop their own
strategic plans and performance measures.

• That the Government of Manitoba develops a common set of guidelines for
annual reporting by crown entities that reflect the attributes of effective
performance information contained in the Auditor General’s report.

• The guidelines on annual reporting include a disclosure policy that
establishes the minimum standards of annual reporting by crown entities.
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Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements
Prepared Using a Basis of Accounting
Other Than Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles
A new assurance standard CICA Handbook Section 5600 came into effect October 1, 2003
which requires an auditor to issue a qualified auditor’s report on financial statements
prepared using a basis of accounting other than Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) except under limited circumstances.  Those circumstances include
financial statements prepared in accordance with legislative or regulatory requirements
in order to meet the needs of a legislator or regulator.

In the Government Reporting Entity, there are currently eight crown entities, Addictions
Foundation of Manitoba, Cooperative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board, Cooperative
Promotion Board, Legal Aid Services Society of Manitoba, Northern Affairs Fund,
Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation, Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan and
Public Trustee Estates and Trusts Under Administration, whose financial statements are
prepared using a disclosed basis of accounting that is not GAAP.

Over the 2004 fiscal year, our auditors’ reports will be reviewed to determine whether a
qualified auditors’ report will be required in accordance with the new assurance standard.
Part of the assessment will be to determine what accounting policies would need to
change in order for the financial statements to be prepared in accordance with GAAP.  We
will also consider whether the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a
legislative or regulatory requirement.

If the financial statements were prepared in accordance with a legislative or regulatory
requirement, CICA Handbook Section 5600 would apply and the financial statements
should disclose in the notes to the financial statements the purpose of the financial
statements as well as the material differences between the basis of accounting used and
GAAP.

The auditors’ report would also change to include a statement indicating the purpose of
the financial statements or a reference to the notes to financial statement which
describes that purpose.  In addition, there would also be a fourth paragraph following
the opinion paragraph, stating that these financial statements “have not been, and were
not intended to be, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles, are solely for the information and use” of legislator or regulator, should also
state the purpose(s) of the financial statements , and the fact that the financial
statements “are not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than the
specified users, or for any other purpose”.

The statements in the fourth paragraph are used to emphasize that the financial
statements are not general purpose financial statements and have been prepared to meet
the specific needs of a legislator or regulator.
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D uring the audits of various organizations in the past year, the following case
of non-compliance with the respective entity’s governing legislation came to our

attention.

Le Collège de Saint-Boniface
Excerpt from “An Examination of Le Collège de Saint-Boniface”, Issued August 18, 2003.

We found during our examination of the Le Collège de Saint-Boniface (the College) that
Section 24 of The Council on Post-Secondary Education Act (Act) required that an annual
report of operations, along with audited financial statements, be submitted by each post-
secondary institution at the end of each fiscal year to The Council on Post-Secondary
Education (COPSE) and that the Minister, was required to table such reports before the
Legislative Assembly.  We noted that this process had not occurred for the College.

As the recipient of significant public funds and as required under Section 24 of the Act,
we expected that the College would have produced accountability documents, such as
annual reports that include financial information, which would be readily available to
the public to demonstrate that public monies are appropriately used.  We also expected
COPSE to ensure that the process for tabling an annual report for the College would have
occurred.  By not following the requirements of the Act, the College and COPSE precluded
the Members of the Legislative Assembly from carrying out their oversight
responsibilities.

We recommended that the College develop and implement a plan to submit an annual
report of operations, along with audited financial statements, to COPSE each fiscal year in
accordance with the Section 24 of The Council on Post-Secondary Education Act.  We
further recommended that COPSE monitor that the College has complied with the Act.

The College provided audited financial statements for the year ending March 31, 2003 to
COPSE.  These audited statements were then tabled by the Minister of Advanced Education
in November 2003.
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Introduction
On April 1, 1997, ten Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) commenced operations in rural
Manitoba.  On April 1, 1998, three urban RHAs (two in Winnipeg) formally commenced
operations.  The formation of the thirteen RHAs was the culmination of a strategy and
process to move to a regional governance model.

The Province of Manitoba, through Manitoba Health, provides operational and capital
funding to the RHAs.  The RHAs have an accountability relationship with Manitoba Health
and accordingly each of the RHAs prepares budgets and financial statements for
submission to Manitoba Health.   As well, the financial statements of the RHAs are
consolidated with the Summary Financial Statements of the Province of Manitoba and the
financial statements of non-devolved facilities are presented on a combined basis in the
Summary Financial Statements of the Province of Manitoba.

The purpose of our review is to identify and assess the accounting principles followed by
the RHAs in the preparation of their financial statements and the impact of that
accounting on the financial statements of the Province of Manitoba and vice versa.
Specific issues related to accounting for employee future benefits, accounting for long
term debt and the disclosure of foundations will be identified and discussed.  As well,
this Paper will emphasize the need to reconcile the amount of funding paid by Manitoba
Health with the amount of funding received by the RHAs, together with the need to
reconcile Manitoba Health’s expenses relating to the RHAs with the related revenues of
the RHAs.

In addition, the coordination between Manitoba Health and the RHAs relating to the
preparation of budgets and estimates and the submission of actual results and projected
results will be explained.

A Glossary of Terms is included in Exhibit O.

Background
In May of 1992, Manitoba Health published the “Quality Health for Manitobans:  The Action
Plan”.  This was a strategy to ensure the future of the province’s health system and to
give Manitobans “health service alternatives and more and better information about those
alternatives, so that individuals can play a full role in decisions about their health and the
services they receive”.

The mission of Manitoba Health has been to promote, preserve and protect the health of
Manitobans.  In the fall of 1992, the Northern/Rural Health Advisory Council was
established.  Through its review of health in the northern and rural areas, the Council
recommended moving to a regional governance model.

In the spring of 1993, 20 health association boundary proposals were received.  Manitoba
Health recommended ten rural health associations.  The decision to regionalize the
operation and administration of health in Manitoba was a major change in the way that
health care was being planned and delivered.  In this model, the regional health
authorities would be responsible within the context of broad provincial policy
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directions, for assessing and prioritizing needs and health goals, and developing and
managing an integrated approach for its own health care system.

Public hearings throughout northern and rural Manitoba pertaining to the governance
and organization of health associations were held in October, 1994.  The Northern/Rural
Health Advisory Council made recommendations to the Minister of Health on the hearing
issues and in August 1995, the Government accepted the recommendations in principle.
A call for nominations of initial board members for Regional Health Authorities (RHAs)
was done in October 1995 and then in January 1996, the RHA Board Chairs were
announced.  Initially, service providers were not eligible to be board members.

Each RHA was incorporated as a not-for-profit corporation.  The Regional Health
Authorities and Consequential Amendments Act (Bill 49) had its first reading on May 16,
1996 and it received Royal Assent on November 19, 1996.  Six Acts were affected by the
legislation and they were The District Health and Social Services Act, The Health Services
Act, The Health Services Insurance Act, The Hospital Act, The Hospital Capital Financing
Authority Act and The Public Health Act.  The revisions to the Acts give a Regional
Health Authority the responsibility and authority for funding and monitoring the health
care services that have been approved by the Minister.

On April 1, 1997, the following rural Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) started to
provide service delivery:

• Burntwood Regional Health Authority
• Churchill RHA Inc.
• Interlake Regional Health Authority
• Marquette Regional Health Authority
• NOR-MAN Regional Health Authority
• North Eastman Health Authority
• Parkland Regional Health Authority
• Regional Health Authority - Central Manitoba Inc.
• South Eastman Health/Santé Sud-Est Inc.
• South Westman Regional Health Authority

At that time, Manitoba Health’s funding allocations to the Regional Health Authorities
were based on historic funding within each region.

The Brandon RHA board members were appointed in April of 1997 and the Brandon RHA
started providing services in the fall of 1997.  In March 1998, the Winnipeg Community
and Long-Term Care and the Winnipeg Hospital Authority Boards were appointed and the
Winnipeg Community Health Assessment Process was initiated.  On April 1, 1998, the
Winnipeg Hospital Authority and Winnipeg Community and Long Term Care Authority
started delivering health care services in Winnipeg.

In the 1998/99 fiscal year, Manitoba Health also provided funding to the RHAs to
improve inequities that had occurred as the result of the application of previous policies,
practices and the consolidation of historical budgets of facilities and community services
in the regions.

The Regional Health Authorities of Manitoba (RHAM) was established by the RHAs in
October 1998.  Its mission has been to foster the development of an efficient and
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effective interregional health care delivery system that meets the needs of all
Manitobans.  Its goals are:

• to act as the umbrella organization for the direct operating divisions of
RHAM. It has one division to date and that is the Regional Health
Authorities of Manitoba Purchasing Plan (RHAPP).  Depending on the
needs of the RHAs, other operating divisions may be added on an ad hoc
or standing basis; and

• RHAM also enters into contracts with external health service providers as
required for services such as the delivery of the Home Oxygen Program to
home care clients.

Manitoba Health released the “Quality Health Care for Manitobans: The Action Plan for the
New Millennium” in 1999.  The focus was to integrate services at the regional level to
allow for:

• better management of the health care system;
• maintaining high-quality acute care services;
• reducing waiting lists;
• relieving hospital over-crowding;
• aggressively attracting and retaining front-line professionals;
• enhancing long-term care and community care;
• meeting changing pharmaceutical needs; and
• building a strong public health system aimed at the prevention and

control of disease and promotion of health and wellness.

The plan also stated that “prevention and population health strategies will result in a
reduction in the disparities in the health status of Manitobans with reduced pressure on the
illness care system”.  The intent is to provide alternative opportunities as the system
shifts to more community oriented services which are less costly.
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In February, 1999, the Winnipeg Hospital Authority and the Winnipeg Community and
Long-Term Care Authority amalgamated as the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority
(Regulation 165/99 of The Regional Health Authorities Act) and in June 2000, the
Regional Health Authority Act’s Regulations were amended to allow service providers to
be appointed to the RHA Boards.  Under Chapter 44 of the Act, an amendment was made
to allow RHAs to give direction to a health corporation that provides health services
within its health region.

In May 2002, the Minister announced the amalgamation of the South Westman and the
Marquette RHAs to form the Assiniboine Regional Health Authority.  A map of the
Regional Health Authorities is provided in Exhibit A.  The majority of the rural facilities
have devolved and are now part of the RHAs.  A list of those rural facilities that have not
devolved is included as Exhibit B.  All the funding for the RHAs is provided by Manitoba
Health Services Insurance Plan.

Financial Information

COSTS OF HEALTH PRE-RHAS
The expenditures for health care services in 1995/96 and 1996/97 were:

COSTS OF HEALTH POST-RHAS
On April 1, 1997 the rural RHAs started providing services to their regions.  The Brandon
RHA started to provide services mid-way through the 1997/98 fiscal year.  The Winnipeg
Hospital Authority and Winnipeg Community and Long-Term Care Authority were not part
of the 1997/98 funding since they commenced operations in 1998/99.

The percentage increase or decrease in funding by Manitoba Health is presented below
starting in 1999/00, the year after the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority commenced
operations.
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Non-RHA funding includes, among other funding components, proprietary personal care
homes, Cancer Care Manitoba, physician fee-for-service, reciprocal billings between
provinces, Pharmacare, third party recoveries, provincial health services, Addictions
Foundation of Manitoba and Manitoba Health’ salaries and operating expenditures.  The
RHAs started receiving proprietary personal care home funding in the 2002/03 Funding
Document.

Details by year and RHA are found in Exhibit C.
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RHA Financial Statement Review

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Background

The scope of section 3461 of the CICA Handbook on Employee Future Benefits applies to
benefits earned by active employees as the funds are expected to be provided to them
when they are no longer providing active service, pursuant to the terms of an entity’s
undertaking to provide such benefits.  These benefits include the following:

• Pension and other retirement benefits expected to be provided after
retirement to employees and their beneficiaries.

- Pension income, health care benefits, life insurance and other
miscellaneous benefits provided to employees after retirement.

• Post-employment benefits expected to be provided after employment but
before retirement to employees and their beneficiaries.

- Long and short-term disability income benefits (including workers’
compensation), severance benefits, salary continuation,
supplemental unemployment benefits, job training and counselling,
and continuation of benefits such as health care benefits and life
insurance.

• Compensated absences for which it is expected employees will be paid.

- Parental leaves, accumulating sick days that vest or are paid without
illness-related absence, and sabbaticals that provide compensated,
unrestricted time off for past service.

• Termination benefits.

Findings
• Between 1989 and 1991, Manitoba Health provided a policy to the health

care facilities on how to present employee future benefits in the health
care facilities’ financial statements.  Although the staff in Financial
Support and Analysis branch at Manitoba Health has not been able to
provide a copy of the policy, it is their understanding that the facilities
would not record accrued vacation, overtime, statutory holiday pay or
pre-retirement costs as an expense, but would only record it on a cash
basis, i.e., in the year in which it was paid.

• The recording of the accrual was disclosed in the balance sheet of the
facility as an asset (deferred benefit entitlement) and as a liability
(accrued benefit entitlement).  The RHAs have continued to follow this
method of accounting from their inception to the present.

• The changes in the deferred asset and in the accrued benefit entitlement
liability are not included in the statement of operations of the RHAs.
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• The pre-retirement liability is a contractual commitment to pay out to
employees four days salary per year of service up to retirement if they
comply with the following conditions:

- have ten years service and have reached the age of 55; or

- qualify for the “eighty” rule which is calculated by adding the
number of years of service to the age of the employee.

• The RHA financial statements do not disclose the terms of the severance
benefits available in the Manitoba Government Employees Union collective
bargaining agreement.

• The RHAs have recorded these amounts based on an actuarial valuation
that includes employees who qualify at the year-end balance sheet date
and an estimate for the remainder of the employees who have not yet met
the criteria above.

• The RHA financial statements do not disclose the terms of the pension
benefits available under the Civil Service Superannuation Plan.  The
Province has accepted responsibility for the obligation and is reflecting
pension benefit obligations in the Province’s financial statements.

• The following are the accrued benefit entitlements payable by the RHAs
based on their balance sheets.

• The 2002 Manitoba Health Service Insurance Plan’s financial statements
include a note relating to these future benefit entitlements.  This liability
amount of $181,294,100 has not been recorded as a liability in those
financial statements.
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• Manitoba Health does not fund the liability or record the cost of accrued
employee benefits or the cost of post-employment benefits earned by
employees of the health authorities and health care facilities until those
benefits are paid to the employees.

• The pre-retirement leave is considered a non-global item by Manitoba
Health in its funding policies.  Non-global items are assessed on a line-by-
line basis.  At year-end, subject to Manitoba Health’s review and approval,
shortfalls will be reimbursed to the RHAs and surpluses will be recovered
from the RHAs.  Manitoba Health has continued to provide pre-retirement
leave funding to the RHAs and the non-devolved facilities.

• The Province of Manitoba, in its 2001/02 Summary Financial Statements,
is disclosing in the salaries and benefits line in Schedule 7 for Accounts
Payable, Accrued Charges, Provisions and Deferrals a liability of $348.0
million.  This liability amount includes $100,108,900 representing the
liability for employee future benefits for the devolved health care
facilities and RHA employees.

• The reconciliation of the total liability of $181,294,100 included in the
table above and the liability of $100,108,900 included in the Summary
Financial Statements is as follows:

• The $6,785,700 amount is also included in the $74,399,567 non-devolved
liability exclusion so that the reported liability in the Summary Financial
Statements may be understated by the $6,785,700.

• From discussions with the Manager of Financial Analysis and Support
branch of Manitoba Health and the CFOs of two of the RHAs, they all
agreed that Manitoba Health is funding all pre-retirement costs, including
those costs for non-devolved facilities.

• The Province’s accounting policy is not to record the unfunded RHA
benefit entitlement liability in the Special Purpose Financial Statements
(Operating Fund) and it has not identified it as an exception to generally
accepted accounting principles in the Significant Accounting Policies
Note to the Special Purpose Financial Statements.  The Operating Fund is
the vehicle through which the government manages and controls the
operations of government departments and programs.  It is through the
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Operating Fund that the government reports on its stewardship of Central
government operations, including measurement of its results as compared
to voted appropriations and its obligations with respect to The Balanced
Budget, the Debt Repayment and the Taxpayer Accountability Act.

• There are at least three RHAs (e.g., North Eastman, Burntwood and South
Westman) that have not had an actuarial valuation of the employee future
benefits liability prepared since December 31, 2000.  In the years between
valuations, an extrapolation of the actuarial valuation of the obligation is
used.  Manitoba Health has not defined the maximum duration of time
between actuarial valuations.

• Although the RHAs have not recorded the annual cost of and the related
matching annual revenue for employee future benefits on an accrual basis,
there are two sub-committees of the Chief Financial Officer’s Committee of
the RHAs that are reviewing this accounting.  Those two committees are
the Provincial Data Quality Committee – MIS and the Provincial
Accounting and Auditing Committee – Financial Presentation and Audit.
The Provincial Accounting and Auditing Committee is considering using
accrual accounting for the annual cost of and the related matching annual
revenue for employee future benefits.  The committee has not met since
November 6, 2001.

• Four of the RHAs (Central, Marquette, Parkland and South Westman) have
separate disclosure of the pre-retirement entitlement as a non-current
liability and the accruals for vacation, holiday and overtime pay as a
current liability.  Six of the RHAs (Burntwood, Churchill, Interlake, NOR-
MAN, North Eastman and South Eastman) have combined the accruals for
vacation, holiday and overtime pay with the pre-retirement entitlements
and disclosed that combined total as a current liability.  Two  of the RHAs
(Brandon and Winnipeg) have combined the accruals for vacation, holiday
and overtime pay with the pre-retirement entitlements and disclosed that
combined total as a non-current liability.  The details by RHA are
presented in Exhibit D.

Conclusions
• Manitoba Health, through the financial statements of the MHSIP, is

accounting for employee future benefit costs for the RHAs and the non-
devolved facilities on a cash basis, with note disclosure as to the amount of
the liability.

• The Province of Manitoba is recording the accrual for employee future
benefits in Schedule 7 of the 2001/02 Summary Financial Statements
without including the non-devolved liability for employee future benefits.
However, the liability for employee future benefits related to the non-
devolved health care facilities is included in Liabilities of Non-Devolved
Health Care Facilities in the Summary Financial Statements on the
statement of financial position, but is offset by deferred charges which are
included in Assets of Non-Devolved Health Care Facilities.  As a result, the
equity in Non-Devolved Health Care Facilities in the Summary Financial
Statements is overstated in the amount of $74.0 million.
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• The Province of Manitoba has not disclosed the fact that because the liability
for employee future benefit is not recorded in the Operating Fund Financial
Statements that this is an exception to generally accepted accounting
principles.

• The Province of Manitoba has understated, in their Summary Financial
Statements, the aggregate amount of the employee future benefits liability
by $6,785,700.

• The RHAs have not used accrual accounting to report the expenses and
revenue applicable to the fiscal year related to employee future benefits.
The RHAs present a deferred charge in their balance sheets in an amount
equal to that of the employee future benefit liability.

• The practice of Manitoba Health is to fund pre-retirement benefits for both
devolved and non-devolved health care facilities.

CAPITAL FUNDING BY DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

Background

The Department of Finance can obtain lower borrowing rates than the RHAs.
Accordingly, the Department of Finance provides capital financing to the RHAs and non-
devolved facilities.  This financing includes not only the financing of major projects, but
also the re-financing and consolidation of loans payable by the RHAs to financial
institutions.

For construction projects where the Department of Finance will be the funding body,
financing from the Department of Finance starts only when the construction or project is
completed.  All short-term borrowing and related interest charged by the lending
financial institutions, before the project’s completion, are considered capital at the time
the Department of Finance takes over the financing.

Findings
• Manitoba Health provides a letter of comfort to the financial institution

during the construction phase.  On completion of construction, the
Chairperson of the Board of Trustees and the Chief Executive Officer of the
RHA or the Board Chair and Executive Director of the non-devolved
facility complete a promissory note promising to pay to the Government
of Manitoba, represented by the Minister of Finance, the repayment of the
principal sum and interest on the loan.  If the RHA or non-devolved
facility fails to make payments of the principal and interest as required,
the full principal sum then outstanding, together with interest thereon
shall, at Manitoba’s option, become due and payable on demand.

• All of the RHAs disclose the liability to the Province as long-term debt.

• All capital funding by the Department of Finance has to be approved as
part of the Estimates process.  The principal funding is provided through
the approved capital borrowing in Capital Grants at Manitoba Health (Sub-
appropriation 21-6) and the interest funding is provided  through the
Funding to Health Authorities (Sub-appropriation 21-4a).
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• As an administrative convenience, Manitoba Health pays the principal and
interest to the Department of Finance on behalf of the RHAs.  This process
is also used by Manitoba Health when making payments to external
lenders on debentures related to major projects.  Manitoba Health still
has 6 urban and 7 rural acute care facilities and 2 urban and 8 rural long
term care facilities that have debentures on which to make payments of
principal and interest.

• When the RHAs receive funding for periodic principal repayments of long-
term debt, the RHAs record that funding as a credit to deferred
contributions.

The annual amortization of the deferred contributions related to the periodic principal
repayments of long-term debt is based on straight line amortization of the total
anticipated funding (i.e., the total principal of the long-term debt).  The amortization
time period used is the same time period used to amortize the related capital asset and
therefore results in no impact on the excess of revenue over expenses.

Conclusion
• The RHAs are classifying capital grants received from the Province of

Manitoba as long-term debt instead of classifying them as deferred
contributions as required by generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP).

REPORTING BY RHAS OF REVENUE RECEIVED FROM
MANITOBA HEALTH

Findings
• Manitoba Health provides Funding Documents to the RHAs identifying the

funding which will be provided during the year.  The RHAs’ reporting of
revenue from Manitoba Health in their 2001/02 audited financial
statements does not agree with the RHAs’ Funding Documents as
summarized in Exhibit E.  Only the Central and Interlake RHAs have
provided a note to their financial statements explaining the variance:
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• Part of the variances in Exhibit E are related to the one-time funding
provided by Manitoba Health which was not included in the RHA Funding
Document in 2001/02.  The remainder of the variance is related to
periodic principal repayments on loans which are reported as deferred
contributions by the RHAs and out of globe amounts payable to Manitoba
Health.

• Manitoba Health is now reporting one-time funding in the 2002/03 RHA
Funding Documents.  The one-time funding is not allocated by sector
(Acute Care, Long-Term Care, Home Care, Community and Mental Health,
Emergency Response and Transport Services, Capital and Interest and
Medical Remuneration).

Conclusions
• Central and Interlake RHAs are the only RHAs that are providing a

reconciliation of the differences between the reported revenue from
Manitoba Health and the payments in the RHA Funding Document provided
by Manitoba Health.  This information is essential for Manitoba Health staff,
RHA staff and others (i.e., external auditors) in order to effectively
reconcile Manitoba Health expenses with RHA revenue.

• Part of the variance between the revenue from Manitoba Health and the
RHA Funding Document in 2001/02 was because the one-time funding
provided by Manitoba Health was not included in this document.  In 2002/
03, the RHA Funding Document includes the one-time funding, but it is not
allocated by sector which would be beneficial to the RHAs and to Manitoba
Health when analyzing cash flows and reconciling RHA revenue with
expenses in the general ledger of the Manitoba Health Services Insurance
Plan.

Financial Statement Presentation and
Note Disclosure

BACKGROUND
The March 31, 2002 Regional Health Authorities financial statements were reviewed in
order to determine if there was consistency in accounting policies and  note disclosure
used.  A summary of that review is included in Exhibits F - I.

Findings

Amounts Receivable from Manitoba Health
• There was no consistency in presentation of accounts receivable,

including amounts due from Manitoba Health.  Each RHA used different
account breakdowns for receivables, with various degrees of detail.  The
results of this analysis are detailed in Exhibit F.
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• The Financial Services branch of Manitoba Health has advised that for
March 31, 2002 they have completed a detailed review of RHA’s accounts
receivable focusing on amounts due to the RHAs from Manitoba Health.
They have now determined what amounts will be recovered by the RHAs
from Manitoba Health.  For the 2002/03 fiscal year the branch has
directed the Chief Financial Officers of the RHA’s that no amount shall be
established as a receivable from Manitoba Health without proper
documentation from Manitoba Health.

Capital Asset Amortization
• There was no consistency among the RHAs with respect to their

amortization policies used for capital assets. The amortization policies, as
presented in the financial statements are summarized in Exhibit G.

Net Assets
• A comparison of the net asset accounts of the RHAs as summarized in

Exhibit H indicated that the RHAs, in segregating their net assets, are
disclosing internally restricted and externally restricted net assets.

• Currently five RHAs (Brandon, Churchill, Interlake, North Eastman and
South Eastman) disclose external restrictions on net assets.

• In discussions with Central RHA, it was noted that any endowments or
donations received by that RHA would be recorded as deferred
contributions, until the funds were used.  Central RHA would not classify
these endowments or donations as externally restricted net assets.

• Currently nine RHAs (Winnipeg, Brandon, Burntwood, Central, Interlake,
Marquette, NOR-MAN, Parkland and South Westman) disclose internal
restrictions on net assets.

• The use of the terms internally restricted and externally restricted is
based on the CICA handbook requirements for not-for-profit
organizations.  As well, the handbook requires note disclosure to indicate
the source and reason for the restrictions.  None of the RHAs provided
that required note disclosure.

Note Disclosure of Manitoba Health Funding Policies
• It was noted that not all RHAs (i.e., Central, Interlake, Marquette,

NOR-MAN and South Eastman) disclose Manitoba Health policy regarding
In Globe and Out of Globe surpluses and deficits as summarized in
Exhibit I.

Consolidation of Controlled Entities
• A review of the RHA financial statements, as summarized in Exhibit I

indicates that eight of the RHAs (Burntwood, Central, Interlake,
Marquette, North Eastman, Parkland, South Eastman and South Westman)
include note disclosure indicating that they consolidate controlled
facilities in their financial statements.  Two RHAs do not consolidate
controlled facilities, the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority and the



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200374

REVIEW OF THE SYMMETRY BETWEEN THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF THE

REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES, MANITOBA HEALTH AND THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Brandon Regional Health Authority.  NOR-MAN RHA and Churchill RHA do
not have note disclosure on this item, because it is not applicable to
them.

Conclusion
• There are significant differences in the financial statement presentation

and note disclosure between the RHAs.  Consistency in presentation and
disclosure would improve comparison among RHAs and improve the
information value of the financial statements for all users.

Reporting Issues for Foundations in the
Health Care Sector

BACKGROUND
Prior to the formation of the Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) many of the health
facilities had foundations.  Those foundations were created to receive donations and
bequests with the objective of accumulating funds which could be used to supplement
the resources of the health facility.  After the RHAs were created these foundations
continued to operate and in some instances new foundations were created to manage
funds without RHA control.  The relationship between the foundations and the health
facilities and between the foundations and the RHAs may be such that disclosure of the
existence of the foundations and the details about the foundations resources should be
included in the financial statements of the reporting health care facility and/or the RHA.

In order to obtain an initial assessment of whether appropriate disclosure requirements
are being met by the RHAs and by the non-devolved urban hospitals with respect to
foundations, we contacted the RHAs and the larger urban health foundations to obtain
information about the relationship between the foundations, the urban hospitals and the
RHAs.  Contact was made with all but one RHA.  The results of these enquiries are
summarized in Exhibit J.

In assessing the need for disclosure in the facilities and/or in the RHA financial
statements with respect to the foundations, we used the criteria set out in the Handbook
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA).  As presented in Exhibit J, we
have identified, as column headings the major criteria we have considered in our
assessment.  The detailed handbook requirements which support the criteria are set out
in the section of this paper entitled, Summary of Handbook Requirements.

In April 1997, the CICA Handbook introduced provisions to the Not-For-Profit section
that expanded the concept of control by an organization over another organization.
Under the new standards an organization may be said to be controlled even in situations
where there is a separate Board of Directors.  The concept of control now includes
economic interest by the reporting organization in the other organization.  Economic
interest relates to the relationship of the reporting organization with respect to
resources and organizational objectives of the other organization.  It should be noted
however that economic interest is not sufficient to create a control situation.  The
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Handbook states that this economic interest exists in degrees.

These requirements are of particular relevance to the health care sector as there are many
urban and rural foundations that, in some instances, hold substantial assets and have an
ability to raise significant revenues.  The resources of these foundations are used for
research, capital projects and equipment purchases.  Accordingly, the foundations make
resources available to the health facilities that are not otherwise available through
provincial funding.

SUMMARY OF HANDBOOK REQUIREMENTS
Where a control relationship exists between a reporting organization and another
organization, the disclosure requirements of Section 4450 of the handbook will apply.

The disclosure requirements address three levels of relationship between a reporting
organization and another organization; control at the highest level, then significant
influence and lastly economic interest.  In order to determine which relationship exists
the handbook indicates factors such as the appointment of the Board of Directors,
transfers of funds between organizations and performance of significant functions that
are integral to the reporting organizations objectives.  Significant influence exists where
there is an ability to affect, rather than control, how another organization’s resources are
used.  When an organization has an economic interest in another organization without
control or significant influence this is still an item for disclosure.  The handbook also
addresses situations where a joint venture or for profit controlled entity is the related
organization.  A detailed discussion follows.

INDICATORS OF CONTROL
Strategic, operating, investing and financing policies establish the basis for the conduct
of the entity’s operations.  The power to determine an entity’s strategic direction and
policies would normally exist when:

• The reporting organization has the ability to appoint the majority of the
voting members of the Board of Directors; and

• The Board of Directors is the same as that of the reporting organization.

In the absence of the right to appoint the Board of Directors, other characteristics of the
reporting organization’s relationship with other organizations should be considered.

Possible other indicators of control are:

• Significant Economic Interest.  Economic interest is defined to exist if the
other organization holds resources for the benefit of the reporting
organization or the reporting organization is responsible for the other
organization’s liabilities.

The following are possible indicators of economic interest.

- The other organization solicits funds in the name of and with the
expressed or implied approval of the reporting organization, and
substantially all of the funds solicited are intended by the
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contributor or are otherwise required to be transferred to the
reporting organization or used at its discretion or direction;

- The reporting organization transfers significant resources to the
other organization whose resources are held for the benefit of the
reporting organization.  Note that the flow of resources is into the
other organization. Therefore, resources flowing in either direction
indicate control;

- The other organization is required to perform significant functions
on behalf of the reporting organization that are integral to the
reporting organization achieving its objectives; and

- The reporting organization guarantees significant liabilities of the
other organization.

However, economic interest exists in varying degrees and does not
necessarily indicate a control situation.  An economic interest may exist
without control or significant influence.  At the other extreme the
reporting organization would not be able to function without the
organization in which it has an economic interest.

• Provisions in the other organizations charter or bylaws that cannot be
changed without the reporting organization’s consent and that limit the
other organization to activities that provide future economic benefits to
the reporting organization.

• The other organizations purpose is integrated with that of the reporting
organization so that the two organizations have common or
complementary objectives.

In some cases a single indicator of control is sufficient to conclude that control exists.
This depends on the significance of a particular indicator.

In summary, where control exists disclosure requirements come into play.  The CICA
Handbook requires that an organization should report each controlled not-for-profit
organization as follows:

Section 4450.14 - An organization should report each controlled not-for-
profit organization in one of the following ways:

a) by consolidating the controlled organization in its financial statements;

b) by providing the disclosure set out in paragraph 4450.22; or

c) if the controlled organization is one of a large number of individually
immaterial organizations, by providing the disclosure set out in paragraph
4450.26. [APRIL 1997]

For a controlled not for-profit-organization regardless of whether or not it is
consolidated, the following should be disclosed.

Section 4450.15 - For a controlled not-for-profit organization, regardless of
whether or not it is consolidated, the following should be disclosed:

a) the policy followed in reporting the controlled organization;
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b) a description of the relationship with the controlled organization;

c) a clear and concise description of the controlled organization’s purpose,
its intended community of service, its status under income tax legislation
and its legal form; and

d) the nature and extent of any economic interest that the reporting
organization has in the controlled organization. [APRIL 1997]

For controlled organizations that are not consolidated the following should be disclosed:

Section 4450.22 - For each controlled not-for-profit organization or group of
similar controlled organizations not consolidated in the reporting
organization’s financial statements, the following should be disclosed, unless
the group of controlled organizations is comprised of a large number of
individually immaterial organizations (see paragraph 4450.26):

a) total assets, liabilities and net assets at the reporting date;

b) revenues (including gains), expenses (including losses) and cash flows
from operating, financing and investing activities reported in the period;

c) details of any restrictions, by major category, on the resources of the
controlled organizations; and

d) significant differences in accounting policies from those followed by the
reporting organization. [APRIL 1997]

Exclusion of Immaterial Organizations (4450.26)

An organization may exclude a group of controlled organizations provided that:

a) the group of organizations is comprised of a large number of organizations
that are individually immaterial;

b) the reporting organization discloses the reasons why the controlled
organizations have been neither consolidated nor included in the disclosure
of any other foundations.

The handbook commentary notes that many not-for-profit organizations may have
control over dozens, hundreds or even thousands of individually immaterial
organizations.  Financial information may not be timely or it may not be in the form of
financial statements prepared using GAAP.  In some cases information may not be
available at all.  In such cases, the effort and expense of providing information in
4450.22 (assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses) may not be cost beneficial.   Judgment is
required in assessing disclosure.  In some instances, some controlled organizations would
be disclosed, while others would not.  For example, a national organization may report
provincial branches, but not report operations down to a local level.

Significantly Influenced Not-For-Profit Organizations (4450.40)

In situations where control does not exist, significant influence may be in place. This
would take the form of representation on the Board of Directors, economic interest,
participation in the policy making process, material inter-entity transactions, or
interchange of managerial personnel.
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In this case the required disclosure is as follows:

a)a description of the relationship with the significantly influenced
organization;

b) a clear and concise description of the significantly influenced organization’s
purpose, its intended community of service, its status under income tax
legislation and its legal form; and

c) the nature and extent of any economic interest that the reporting
organization has in the significantly influenced organization.

As significant influence involves the ability to affect, rather than control, information
would not be provided about the significantly influenced organizations’ resources.

Economic Interest

There is another reporting level where neither control nor significant influence exists,
but the reporting organization has an economic interest. In this case “…the nature and
extent of this interest should be disclosed.” (4450.45)

Findings

Transfers from Regional Health Authorities
• The Pas Health Foundation was formed by transferring funds (possibly

donation accounts) from the The Pas Hospital to the Foundation.

• In the region formerly known as Marquette (now part of the Assiniboine
RHA) the Chief Financial Officer indicated that foundations were relatively
rare until regionalization of the health care sector occurred, at which
time funds were transferred from existing facilities to foundations which
were created to manage the funds.

• Other information was received that significant funds were transferred to
foundations when regionalization occurred.  It is not known if these
funds were transferred from donation accounts, from appropriately
retained surpluses, or from other sources.  One individual indicated that
the transfers were restricted to donations by Manitoba Health and that
transfers of surplus funds arising from Manitoba Health funding were not
allowed by Manitoba Health.  In order to determine the amount and
source of the funds additional investigation would be required by
Manitoba Health.

Transfer from Riverview Health Centre Pension Fund Surplus
• In the case of the Riverview Health Centre, the financial statements

identify a transfer from the Centre to the Foundation for the March 31,
2002 fiscal year of $1.3 million.  The transfer was described as
representing the pension fund surplus of the Centre.

Determining Relationship between the Reporting Organization and Foundations
• Almost all the Foundations have separate Boards of Directors.  At the Deer

Lodge Centre the Chief Operating Officer of the Centre is a non-voting
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member of the Foundation Board and acts as a liaison between the Centre
and the Foundation.

• In the absence of clear indicators, such as shared Boards or Boards
appointed by the reporting organization, it is necessary to look to other
aspects of the relationship between the health organizations and the
foundations.  The information obtained in Exhibit J indicated that there
was at least an economic interest between those foundations that could
be specifically identified and the related health care organization.

• In some instances RHAs could not identify all foundations in their area,
partially because the foundations are independent organizations.

• In the urban areas each of the major health facilities has a foundation
relationship.

Capital Assets
• In some instances the foundations had contributed funds for significant

capital assets used by the facilities. It is not clear what the accounting
treatment is for these assets and if they are recorded as assets of the
recipient organization.

Current Reporting
• Financial statements were obtained for the ten major urban health

facilities.  An examination of those financial statements indicated the
following note disclosures which are presented in Exhibit J:

- Four (Children’s Hospital, Grace Hospital, Health Sciences Centre and
Misericordia Health Centre) report an economic interest in a
foundation.

- One (Concordia Hospital) reports having significant influence in a
foundation.

- Four (Deer Lodge Centre, Riverview Health Centre, St. Boniface
Hospital and Victoria Hospital) report transactions with foundations
as being related party or related entity transactions.

- One (Seven Oaks Hospital) statement identifies the foundation as a
supporter.

• The Winnipeg RHA disclosed in its financial statement an economic
interest in the Health Sciences Foundation and the Children’s Hospital
Foundation together with the amount of funds received for the fiscal year
being reported.

• Financial statements for foundations were not obtained for all rural
health care facilities. However a review of the rural RHAs March 31, 2002
financial statements as summarized in Exhibit J, indicated no disclosure
of foundation activities, with the exception of the financial statement
disclosure of a $293,000 liability to Betel Heritage Foundation Inc. from
the Interlake RHA.
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Conclusions
• Current accounting treatment of foundations by the RHAs and the non-

devolved health care facilities is not consistent.

• The handbook disclosure requirements are sufficiently broad that the RHAs
should provide disclosure of their economic interest in the related
foundations and the level of support received by the RHA, either directly or
indirectly through a health facility, from a foundation.  This information is
not always being provided by the rural RHAs as indicated in Exhibit J.

• The accounting treatment of the foundations by the urban facilities is
summarized in Exhibit J.  There are a number of variations in the level of
detail being disclosed.

Health/RHA Financial Statements/
Relationship/Policy/Coordination

BACKGROUND
Manitoba Health and the RHAs’ Chief Financial Officers meet every second month and have
conference calls in those months in which they do not meet.  As well, Manitoba Health
and the RHAs’ Chief Executive Officers meet every second month and have conference calls
in the months in which they do not meet.  This provides an opportunity for Manitoba
Health and the RHAs to discuss policy changes, program concerns and any statistical and
financial issues that may arise.  Throughout the year, the finance officers of the Financial
Support and Analysis branch of Manitoba Health monitor the funding to and expenditures
of the RHAs.  Exhibit K provides an organizational chart for Manitoba Health and the
relationship therein of the Financial Support and Analysis branch of Manitoba Health.

There are a number of reporting requirements of the RHAs and Manitoba Health:

• Monthly Reporting

- RHA’s Financial Monitoring (starting in June)
- RHA’s MIS Financial and Statistical Reporting

• Quarterly Reports

- Manitoba Health’s Cash Flow to Treasury Board including RHA’s
Financial Position

• Annual Reports

- RHA’s Health Plan (June 1 for the year beginning April 1 of the
following year)

- Preliminary Estimates to Treasury Board (October)
- Supplementary Supply to Treasury Board (November)
- RHA’s Audited Financial Statements (June 30)
- RHA’s Year-end Settlements (Fall for the March 31 year-end of that

year)
- RHA’s MIS Financial Statements (June 30)
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Findings
• The RHAs and Manitoba Health are accountable for specific funding

requirements throughout the year.  The activities are as follows:

Manitoba Health’s Funding Policies
• The funding to the RHAs is governed in accordance with Section 3(3) and

Section 24(4) of The Regional Health Authorities Act.  The provincial
expectations are to:

- improve efficiency and effectiveness in the delivery of services;
- redirect resources, as appropriate, from the acute care category to

other funding categories such as health promotion, disease
prevention, primary care, and home-based services;

- foster multidisciplinary and intersectional strategies to address the
determinants of health.

• Unless explicit approval in writing is provided by Manitoba Health, all
items should be funded from within the global funding provided.  This
includes the five sectors:

- Acute Care
- Long-Term Care
- Emergency Response and Transport Services
- Community and Mental Health
- Home Care

• The funding to the RHAs is considered global unless stated below:

- Global – Protected Programs  (funding must be used only for the
following purposes)
- Laboratory and Imaging Services
- Northern Patient Transportation Program
- Chemotherapy
- Dialysis (Includes Staff Training)
- Pan Am Clinic – WRHA
- South Eastman Surgical Program

• Non-Global

- Medical Remuneration/Medical Sessional Payments
- Authorized/Charge Income
- Pre-Retirement Leave
- Capital Costs
- Accreditation Survey Fees

The non-global items are assessed on a line-by-line basis.  At year-end,
subject to Manitoba Health’s review and approval, shortfalls incurred by
the RHA in non-global funding will be funded by Manitoba Health and any
surpluses realized by the RHAs will be paid by the RHAs to Manitoba
Health.
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RHA’s Health Plan
• The 2004/05 Health Plan Guidelines were sent out on March 7, 2003 to

the Regional Health Authorities.  The Plan consists of two components:

- Strategic Component – submitted every five years
- Annual Component – submitted annually

The RHA’s Health Plan is submitted electronically by June 1st of each year.

The RHAs undertake a comprehensive Community Health Assessment every
five years with the goal to developing the Strategic Component of the
RHA Plan.  The next Strategic Component is due in June 2005.

• The intent of the health plan is to convey:

- Clear Direction – focus on actions required to successfully meet the
health needs of Manitobans.

- Communication and Consultation – to inform Manitobans about the
process of planning for the health systems.

- Public Accountability – to ensure public funds are used in a
responsible manner, that services respond to the health needs of the
citizens within the region and that services meet standards set by
the province and by licensing authorities.

• There are various schedules that must be completed by the RHAs.  Those
are as follows:

- Schedule1 - Funding Request:  is completed for all new or expanded
programs, baseline requests and redirections. This includes baseline
price, baseline volume, one-time costs, annualizations, new
initiatives and reallocations.

- Schedule 2 - RHA Budget Allocation:  is the RHA Budget Allocation
which includes the prior year’s actual, current year RHA Board
budget, current year’s initial funding as provided by Manitoba
Health, current year’s reallocation, current year’s adjustments, and
current year’s RHA Adjusted Budget.

- Schedule 3 Wage - Settlement Templates:  is the estimated and
prior year’s unsettled wage settlements, current and prior year’s wage
settlement increments and pre-retirement costs. Wage settlements
arise from contracts negotiations with health care unions.

- Schedule 4A and 4B - Summary Reports:  are automatically
generated from Schedule 1 to break down requests by type and
sector.

- Schedule 5 - Specialized Equipment Needs Plan:  outlines the
Region’s prioritized specialized equipment needs.

- Schedule 6 - Regional Capital Management Plan:  outlines the
Region’s overall capital plan, listing all projects proposed for
approval during the health plan timeframe and contemplated for
future fiscal years.

- Schedule 7 and 7a - Capital Construction Project Brief:  is to
provide briefs for the proposed projects in the fiscal year of
reference.
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- Schedule 8 - Capital Planning Safety and Security Project Request:
is to provide safety and security project requests.

- Schedule 9 - Workforce Planning:  is automatically generated from
Schedule 3.

Review of the RHA’s Health Plan
• The Executive Management Committee (EMC) at Manitoba Health will

review the initial proposals in the Health Plan and identify any funding
that will not be considered in the review process.  The finance officers in
Financial Support and Analysis branch are responsible for specific RHAs
and will work with the RHA representatives when analyzing the funding
requests submitted.   Regional Affairs, Capital Finance and program staff
are also part of the initial review.  Wage Settlements are the responsibility
of the Labour Relations Secretariat.  The staff will prioritize each of the
requests.  The new initiatives are the last requests to be reviewed.

• A Health Plan Review Steering Committee which is chaired by the Director
of Regional Support Services includes senior staff from the different
program and funding areas of Manitoba Health.  The Committee reviews
the prioritized RHA requests.  Ongoing meetings take place at the
Committee level until the Committee defines the list of requests that will
go forward for Executive Management Committee’s (EMC) review.  Once
EMC has approved the requests, they are entered into the Preliminary
Estimates by the Financial Support and Analysis branch staff and by
Capital Finance branch staff.

Preliminary and Final Detailed Estimates
• The reallocations, price, volume, annualizations, target reductions, if

required, and new initiatives are entered by sub-appropriation, health
care sector and type of service delivery in the Preliminary Estimates.  The
Preliminary Estimates are submitted to Finance and Administration
branch staff for review.  Once reviewed, the Preliminary Estimates are then
forwarded to Treasury Board Secretariat.  Any adjustments by Manitoba
Health will be included as additions or deletions to the Preliminary
Estimates for review by Treasury Board Secretariat.  Treasury Board
Secretariat perform its analysis and may ask further questions of Manitoba
Health.  Once the funding is approved by Treasury Board, Estimates
Minutes are prepared by Treasury Board Secretariat stating the funding
approved.  The Printed Estimates of Expenditure and Revenue are prepared
by the Treasury Board Secretariat and subsequently tabled in the
Legislature by the Minister of Finance.  Approval of the Budget is by way
of the Appropriation’s Act which is approved by the Legislature and
receives Royal Assent.

Manitoba Health’s Funding to the RHAs
• After the approval of the Final Detailed Estimates, the finance officers in

Financial Support and Analysis branch start to prepare a Funding
Document for their respective RHAs.  All funding changes to an RHA
require the signature of the Executive Director of Financial Support and
Analysis branch.  Approved block funding is provided and the RHAs will
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identify where in the five sectors (Acute Care, Long-Term Care, Community
and Mental Health, Home Care, and Emergency and Transportation
Services) the funding will be allocated.  The Senior Financial Analyst of
Financial Support and Analysis branch prepares the Medical Remuneration
(payments to physicians for services rendered) and the Manager of Capital
Finance prepares the capital and interest payments for each RHA’s Funding
Document.  One-time funding in each RHA’s Funding Document (e.g.,
initial startup of a service, safety requirements, etc.) is provided by the
Accounting Services staff but this funding is not segregated by sector.
The Chief Financial Officers of the RHAs can also request re-allocations of
the funding between sectors throughout the year.

• The RHAs are funded in 24 semi-monthly payments on the 1st and 15th of
each month.  Funding adjustment can be done as many as 24 times during
the year.  The first payment starts on April 1st and the final payment for
the fiscal year is March 15th.  The RHA Funding Document is the ownership
of the Financial Support and Analysis branch.  Before the payments can be
made through the system and the general ledger of the Manitoba Health
Services Insurance Plan, the Executive Director or the Manager of
Financial Support and Analysis branch has to sign the Funding Document.
The Manager of Capital Finance must sign the Funding Document for debt
principal and interest payments.

Reporting Requirements of the RHA (monthly and quarterly reports)
• The RHAs are required to provide full reporting of the RHA’s financial

position and operating results including both global and non-global
information.  A summarized administrative report is required
electronically in a prescribed format of the RHA’s financial position and
operating results and a forecast of the anticipated year-end results.  The
reports are due as follows:
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• The reports must explain any variances from Manitoba Health’s RHA
Funding Document.  Any reallocated funding must be appropriately
explained by the Chief Financial Officer of the RHA.  A hardcopy and
electronic submission of the report must be forwarded to the finance
officer at Financial Support and Analysis branch who is assigned to that
RHA.  The hardcopy must be signed by the RHA’s Chief Executive Officer.
In the case of any disputes regarding allocations or classifications of
funding, the Department will review and confirm a final decision with
respect to the allocations of funding or the classification of funding.

• The 2002/03 fiscal year is the first year that RHAs will be reporting on
performance in key areas and outlining how such performance will be
monitored and measured.  It is intended that the performance deliverables
and health plan processes will evolve over time, and interface with the
reporting requirements.

Manitoba Health’s Review of the RHA’s Expenditures and Projections
• Starting in June, the staff in the Financial Support and Analysis branch

does an extensive review of the RHA’s financial position and operating
projections to the end of the fiscal year.  They review the RHA
expenditures through comparison with the funding provided by Manitoba
Health.  Capital Finance branch staff review the principal and interest
payments by comparison with the approved principal and interest funding
provided.

• As part of this review, the RHAs are to project their year end position and
explain any variances from the agreed budget.  This information is split
into global and non-global funding.  A comparison is made between the
RHA’s projected funding to the end of the fiscal year and Manitoba
Health’s RHA Funding Document.  Detailed explanations are provided for
the variances in each of the five sectors as well as in the non-global
items.  Finance and Administration staff does a final review of these
variances by RHA and a surplus or deficit position per RHA is provided to
Treasury Board and senior management of Finance and Regional Affairs
divisions of Manitoba Health.

• In the fourth quarter review of the RHAs’ financial position, the Financial
Support and Analysis staff and Capital Finance staff analyze the variances
of the March 31 Preliminary Year-end report and set up accruals or
recoveries in Manitoba Health, where necessary, to prepare for the final
year-end reporting at Manitoba Health.  A draft letter prepared by the
Executive Director of Financial Support and Analysis branch regarding the
March 31, 2003 Year-End Reporting is to be provided to the Chief
Financial Officers of the RHAs stating that:

“It should be noted that any amounts placed on the Balance Sheet, as
receivable/payable with the Department, should have the proper
documentation and approval.  This is to ensure that these amounts can
be easily reconciled at year-end when the confirmation letters are sent.
The RHA should not assume any amount will be funded without the
proper documentation and approval.  Please call your Finance Officer and
confirm what will be set-up at year-end”.
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Cash Flow Process
• Manitoba Health has to submit quarterly cash flow projections to Treasury

Board Secretariat for each sub-appropriation.  The information is
requested by line within a sub-appropriation and explanations are
required for any significant projected costs which exceed the Printed
Estimates.  Variance explanations are required based on the following
funding:

• The finance officers of Financial Support and Analysis branch provide
information to Finance and Administration staff on acute care, long term
care, emergency response and transport services, community and mental
health services, home care and medical remuneration.  The Executive
Director or Manager of Financial Support and Analysis branch must
approve this information.  The Manager of Capital Finance provides and
approves the information on the principal and interest payments.  This
information is then provided to Finance and Administration staff for their
final review and their submission to Treasury Board Secretariat.

Year-End Settlements of the RHA Audited Financial Statements
• The process of having the Department ensure that proper documentation

and approval is provided by the RHAs for each of the RHA’s receivables
and payables with Manitoba Health at year end should alleviate many of
the discrepancies during the year-end settlement process.  As well, this
will ensure that the RHA’s audited financial statements record only
approved funding from Manitoba Health and can be reconciled with the
expenses and accruals recorded by the Manitoba Health Services Insurance
Plan.

• The finance officers in Financial Support and Analysis branch and the
Capital Finance branch staff, together with RHA representatives perform a
line by line review of the variance report provided by the Chief Executive
Officer of the RHA on the RHA’s audited financial statements and Manitoba
Health’s RHA Funding Document.  Variances between the audited financial
statement details and Manitoba Health’s funding for each RHA are
identified and reported and comments are prepared.  Manitoba Health
staff assess whether there is an amount owing to the RHA or recoverable
from the RHA by Manitoba Health.  As of 2001/02, no deficits on global
funding are being considered for funding by Manitoba Health to the RHAs.
Once the 2001/02 year-end settlement is completed for each RHA, the
Chief Financial Officer of Manitoba Health signs the settlement letter
stating the amount recovered from the RHA by Manitoba Health or the
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amount to be funded by Manitoba Health to the RHA and that it is the
final fiscal year settlement with the RHA.

Management Information System (MIS)
• The MIS Guidelines are a national set of financial and statistical reporting

standards administered by the Canadian Institute for Health Information
(CIHI).  The data is to provide meaningful information to track and
monitor the expenditures and activities of the programs and
administrative functions of the RHAs.  The RHAs are required to report
monthly on their statistical and financial information based on the MIS
Guidelines format.  The balance sheet data is required annually with the
14th month submission.  The MIS system verifies that the balance sheet
data (debits and credits) is in balance.  The system also does some
statistical edit checks before the RHAs’ year-end MIS data is sent to CIHI
for their analysis.  At present, the MIS data is not being reconciled by
Manitoba Health with the RHA’s audited financial statements.

• The MIS data is being received monthly from the RHAs.  A status report is
sent to each RHA by the MIS Unit identifying which of the RHA’s facilities
have not provided the monthly data.

• The Provincial MIS Data Quality and Indicator Committee, with
representation from each RHA, is a Sub-Committee of the RHA Council of
Chief Financial Officers.  The purpose of the Committee is to improve the
quality, reliability and comparability of MIS data.  The Committee holds
monthly meetings (except in July and August), with two being face-to-
face, and the remainder by teleconference.  The MIS Coordinator is also
presently working with home care and mental health staff to review the
RHAs’ financial and statistical data and to resolve discrepancies in
reporting.  Work is also ongoing with the Regional Directors of Diagnostic
Services to review diagnostic services reporting.

• CIHI will be publishing its first report based on the Canadian MIS database
(CMDB).  CIHI has established an MIS Strategic Steering Committee to
provide guidance and expertise for this and future reports from the CMDB.
The RHAs are being given an advance opportunity to review the Manitoba
data to ensure the data is complete and accurate.

Conclusions
• The review of the reporting requirements above demonstrates that Manitoba

Health has recently implemented significant controls to monitor the RHAs
operations and to provide explanations to Treasury Board Secretariat and
Manitoba Health’s senior management on significant variances between
Manitoba Health’s funding and the RHA expenditures and/or projected
expenditures.  The RHAs are monitored on a monthly basis starting in June
for the May 31st month-end.

• There are controls in place for reviewing and analyzing the RHAs’ Health
Plans.  The RHAs prepare extensive Health Plans which include briefing
notes for each funding request made.  In the process there is coordination
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with Manitoba Health staff and the RHAs’ staff in the prioritization of the
requests.  Subsequent reviews are made by the Health Plan Review Steering
Committee and then the Executive Management Committee.

• Manitoba Health has a draft letter prepared, which they plan to distribute
to the RHAs explaining that the RHAs are not to record any receivables from
Manitoba Health unless the receivables have first been approved by
Manitoba Health.  In the past, the RHAs assumed deficits would be a
receivable from Manitoba Health.

• The MIS data is still not being reviewed by the RHAs or Manitoba Health to
ensure its completeness and accuracy.  There is no requirement by the RHA
to sign a responsibility statement that the financial and statistical data as
stated is correct.

Public Accounts Issues

GOVERNMENT REPORTING ENTITY
The present definition of the Government Reporting Entity (GRE) as recommended by the
Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the CICA is based on ownership and/or control.
(This definition is currently under review by PSAB). PSAB Handbook Section PS 1300.07
states, “the government reporting entity should comprise the organizations that are
accountable for the administration of their financial affairs and resources either to a
minister of the government or directly to the legislature, or local government council, and
are owned or controlled by the government”.

Determination of ownership is relatively uncomplicated, generally speaking, and PSAB
offers the following guidance:

“A government owns an organization when it has created or acquired the
organization and, directly or indirectly, holds title to:

- a majority of the organization’s shares carrying the right to appoint at
least a majority of the members of the board of directors; or

- the organization’s net assets such that the government has an ongoing
right to access them.

Evidence of title to the net assets of an organization may be embodied in
the provisions of relevant legislation, such as:

- those allowing the transfer of net assets or net liabilities to the
government at the government’s discretion; or

- those designating the organization as a “Crown” corporation or
government agency.”

However, control is often more difficult to define and determine.  PSAB’s definition is “a
government controls an organization when, without requiring the consent of others or
changing existing legislative provisions, it has the authority to determine the financial
and operating policies of that organization.  The authority of a government to determine
the financial and operating policies of an organization allows it to establish the
fundamental basis for the conduct of the organization’s financial affairs, as well as the
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deployment of its resources”.  The guidance provided focuses on the authority to appoint
the governing board and that the board exercises control over the strategic, financing,
investing and operating policies of the organization.  In effect, the board thereby
controls the organization.  But it also considers whether the government can “determine
the revenue-raising, expenditure and resource allocation policies of the organization”.  In
that case, the government also controls the entity.

Regional Health Authorities are considered to be owned and controlled by the
government along with the health related crown organizations listed in Exhibit L.

Non-devolved entities are considered part of the Government Reporting Entity (GRE) as a
result of the Province wanting to recognize deferred charges related to the capital
funding provided to the non-devolved health care entities.  The largest component of the
non-devolved group is the Winnipeg faith based hospitals and certain rural hospitals.
These entities are listed in Exhibit M.

CONSOLIDATION OF REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES AND
NON-DEVOLVED HEALTH CARE ENTITIES
Entities in the health care sector are divided into one of two categories – devolved or
non-devolved health care facilities and each is accounted for differently on the Summary
Financial Statements

Devolved health care facilities’ financial statements are restated so their accounting
policies are on the same basis as the Province’s and the transactions and balances with
the Province are eliminated. They are then consolidated on a line by line basis.  Devolved
entities include all the Regional Health Authorities (RHAs), CancerCare Manitoba,
Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre Inc., Addictions Foundation of Manitoba and
others as listed in Exhibit L.

Non-devolved entities are entities whose ownership and control have not devolved to an
RHA. They include Winnipeg faith based hospitals such St. Boniface General Hospital and
Grace General Hospital, certain rural hospitals as well as personal care homes.  Non-
devolved entities’ financial statements are not restated and there are no eliminations of
transactions or balances with the Province. They are included on a combined basis – total
assets and total liabilities are reported on the Summary balance sheet with the change in
net assets reflected in the Summary statement of accumulated deficit. As a result, the net
income of the non-devolved entities is not part of the Summary net income.

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL’S AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATION OF THE RHAS
The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) relies on the work of the external auditors’ of the
RHAs’ financial statements in accordance with CICA Assurance Handbook section 6930.
Further, the OAG’s process (performed by the Health Sector audit team) also entails a
review of the external auditors’ audit planning as well a defined involvement with the
execution, completion and finalization stages of the audit in accordance with the
requirements of The Auditor General Act.  In addition, on a cyclical basis, the OAG
reviews the working papers files of the external auditors.
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The Public Accounts audit team reviews the audited financial statements of the RHAs to
consider whether there are qualifications in the auditors’ reports that may affect our
audit opinion on the Summary Financial Statements.  As well, the Public Accounts audit
team reviews the audited financial statements of each RHA to gain an understanding of
RHA operations and any differences in accounting policies of the RHA from those of the
Province.  They then review Central Finance’s working papers regarding any restatement
and elimination journal entries for completeness and propriety, and also review the
postings of the financial information to Central Finance’s master consolidation worksheet.
Similarly, the Public Accounts audit team ensures that all significant note disclosures
from the RHA financial statements are carried forward to the Summary Financial
Statements.

REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES’ FINANCIAL REPORTING
ISSUES AFFECTING THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Deferred Contributions (Assets)

A few years ago, the RHAs began recognizing the liability for employee future benefits in
accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3461.  The CICA Handbook [PSAB section 3250
and Not-for-Profit Accounting Standards (CICA Handbook Section 4400) include the
reference to CICA Handbook Section 3461] recommends recognition of employee future
benefits.  Therefore, recognition of any unfunded liability is in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles.

At present, RHAs only record the unfunded employee benefit liability on the statement of
financial position.  The cash component of the employee benefit expense is reflected on
the statement of operations. However, the change in the unfunded liability is only
reported on the statement of financial position and is not recorded on the statement of
operations.  That change (increase) in the unfunded liability is recorded by increasing
the deferred benefits (assets) and increasing the liability, but the related expense is not
shown on the statement of operations.

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (accrual accounting) require that the
change in the unfunded liability be recorded as an expense on the statement of
operations and the liability be correspondingly increased.  The current year’s expense
should be made up of the cash payments during the year plus the change in the unfunded
liability.

In addition, the apparent difficulty with this accounting treatment is compounded by the
fact that the Province of Manitoba does not record, in the Operating Fund (Consolidated
Fund), a payable to the RHAs equal to those deferred contributions (assets), which would
then permit the RHAs to record a long term receivable from the Province of Manitoba.
The employee benefit liability is an unfunded liability because it is the Province’s policy
to fund that liability on a cash basis.  There is, however, an expectation that there will
be sufficient funds on a cash basis to meet the cash requirements related to that
unfunded liability as they come due on an annual basis.

Consequently, until the Province recognizes a liability associated with the unfunded
employee future benefits, the RHAs are effectively generating operational deficits which
are not properly reflected in their financial statements.  Using accrual accounting, these
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entities do not receive sufficient annual contributions to offset the current year’s
expenses incurred.  Assuming the RHAs operate at a break even level, that difference
should be represented as an annual operational deficit accumulating over time to an
accumulated deficit equal to the unfunded liability.

THE IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS OF DEFERRED CHARGES
REPORTED ON REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES’ FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Special Purpose Financial Statements

The present accounting policy of the government with respect to the Special Purpose
Financial Statements (Operating Fund) is to not record unfunded long term liabilities
related to employee future benefits.  Funding is provided on a cash basis. Therefore the
corresponding accrued payable related to the RHAs’ deferred charges for employee future
benefits (RHA assets) is not recorded on the Operating Fund Financial Statements.
Consequently, as at March 31, 2002, the unrecorded unfunded liability amounted to $92
million (Exhibit N).  Recognition of the change in the unfunded liability would have
decreased the Province’s 2002 net revenues before transfers from the Fiscal Stabilization
Fund by $6.5 million. (Exhibit N)

In addition, Balanced Budget Legislation indicates that the Operating Fund Financial
Statements are prepared in accordance with the Government’s accounting policies.  The
Government’s accounting policies are disclosed as GAAP with certain exceptions.  The
notes to the Operating Fund Financial Statements do not disclose the exception of the
lack of recognition of the unfunded liabilities related to employee future benefits.

Summary Financial Statements

Devolved

The Summary Financial Statements recognize the unfunded liabilities for employee future
benefits recorded on the RHA financial statements.  Similarly, the change in the unfunded
liability is recorded as an expense in the current year.  Therefore, the Summary Financial
Statements with respect to this issue are in accordance with GAAP.

Non-Devolved

The Summary Financial Statements recognize the unfunded liabilities for employee future
benefits recorded on the RHA financial statements.  The change in the unfunded liability
is recorded as a change in net assets in the statement of accumulated deficit.  However,
because the liability is offset by the deferred assets, there is no effect on accumulated
deficit.  Those accounting policies are exceptions to GAAP.

Application of Deferred Contributions (Assets) in other Jurisdictions

In Manitoba, all of the RHAs are involved in multi-employer pension plans.  To date, they
have not had an unfunded liability in any of these plans and therefore have not booked
any liability.
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In the majority of the other jurisdictions, the only employee future benefits disclosed
relate to retirement benefits. In Ontario, RHAs are not part of the Government Reporting
Entity and the Province does not recognize any unfunded liability associated with RHAs.
Only Nova Scotia records, at the RHA level, the entire unfunded liability associated with
employee future benefits with a corresponding accounts receivable due from the
Province. At the federal level, the entities that operate on a “pay as you go” basis,
record the unfunded liability and show an operating/accumulated deficit.

In a number of jurisdictions, the pension plans are funded annually with no outstanding
liability. In the case of Bermuda, there is a defined contribution plan which is funded
annually. In Saskatchewan, the only employee future benefit provided by the RHAs is a
defined benefit pension. In Alberta and British Columbia, the RHA equivalents are
involved in multi-employer pension schemes similar to the RHAs in Manitoba. To date,
they have not had an unfunded liability in any of these plans and therefore have not
booked any liability.

However, in the case of Alberta, the Province does not assume any liability for deficits in
the plan and in British Columbia, the Province is responsible for 50% of any liability. In
Québec, Newfoundland and Labrador, New Brunswick and in one plan in Prince Edward
Island, the RHA equivalents do not report the unfunded liability in their financial
statements; the Province reports the liability in its financial statements.

Newfoundland and Labrador account for their pension costs, at the health care board
level on a cash basis. In general, they match annual employee contributions and the
combined contributions are passed on to the Province.  In New Brunswick, the RHAs pay
the employer portion of the pension costs with the Province being responsible for any
unfunded liability.  In Prince Edward Island, the pension costs of RHA staff who continue
to be members of the Provincial Civil Service Plan are only accounted for in the
Province’s financial statements. In relation to the other pension plan, there is no liability
assumed by the Province or the RHAs for deficits.

In summary, a number of jurisdictions (Bermuda, British Columbia, Alberta and
Saskatchewan) do not have an unfunded liability for employee future benefits. Of those
that do have an unfunded liability for employee future benefits, some jurisdictions
(Canada, Manitoba and Nova Scotia) report employee future benefits as an unfunded
liability at the RHA level, and Nova Scotia reports a corresponding receivable from the
Province. The others (Quebec, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland and
Labrador) only report the associated unfunded liability in the Province’s financial
statements.

Deferred Contributions (Credits) versus Loans Payable

Commencing in 2000, the Province began refunding the debt of RHAs and certain non-
devolved health care facilities, as well as providing loans for new capital projects, to take
advantage of the lower borrowings rates available to the Province.  However, the
Province did not want to expense the entire capital funding as a grant in the year it was
provided.

The Province’s accounting treatment was to record a deferred charge for the funding
provided.  The Province borrowed the money to provide the funding to the RHAs.  Hence,
it is paying interest on the outstanding debt.  Therefore the Province has set up an
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amortization schedule to amortize the deferred charges over the term of the principal
payments of the related debt issue.  The Province records interest revenue for the interest
component of the amortization schedule (debit to health grant expense) and records an
additional health grant expense to amortize the deferred charge.

The above accounting treatment was considered appropriate only if the Province
recognized the entire health care sector as part of the Government Reporting Entity,
which it did.  While the deferred charges were then considered appropriate, they still
constitute an exception to GAAP (Public Sector Accounting Standards) and are disclosed
as such in both the Operating Fund and Summary Financial Statements. The argument was
that the accounting treatment should not drive the business decision in that the
Government Reporting Entity as a whole benefited from the lower interest rates.

PS 3050.10 loans receivable and PS 3410 government transfers require that “the  amount
of a loan that is expected to be recovered from future appropriations should be
accounted for as an expenditure in the period when a direct relationship can be
established between the repayment of the loan and a government’s funding to the
borrower”.  The government’s accounting policy is not in accordance with GAAP in that
the recognition of the grant expense is deferred beyond the year the grant (loan) is
provided and the resulting deferred charge is amortized over a number of years.

However, PS 3410.36 indicates that spending authority usually relates to grants for the
current year only which in effect is what is, in certain respects, occurring here.  The
Estimates of Expenditures provide for only the annual component of the loan
amortization schedule; there is no recognition in the Estimates for the full amount of the
grant in the year the funding is provided.

The parallel accounting treatment using not-for-profit accounting standards would be for
the RHAs to record deferred contributions (credits) when the funding is initially received
by the RHA and then take into revenue annually (draw down) an amount equal to the
amortization expense of the capital asset acquired (refunded) with the funding.  The
RHAs would also not recognize any interest expense as they do currently nor disclose a
loan payable to the Province.

At present, all the RHAs report the financing and refinancing contributions as loans
payable on their financial statements.

An understanding of the substance of the transactions is blurred by the attendant
paperwork surrounding the funding.  RHAs and non-devolved entities sign promissory
notes to the Province for the monies provided to them.  Similarly, Manitoba Health has
elaborate schedules for the ‘repayment of the loans’ and the related interest on the loans.
However, there are no cash repayments required.

Similarly, the RHAs record revenue from Manitoba Health equal to the related interest
costs incurred by the Province and defer recognition of the grant revenue related to the
principal reduction portion, reporting it as a deferred contribution and bringing it into
revenue on the same basis as the capital asset amortization expense.
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THE IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS OF LOANS PAYABLE/
DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS REPORTED ON REGIONAL HEALTH
AUTHORITIES’ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special Purpose Financial Statements

The impact of this issue on the Special Purpose Financial Statements is that the total
grant is not recognized when the funding is provided to the RHAs.  Instead, it is reported
as a deferred charge on the balance sheet and amortized over the term of the loan.  This
exception to GAAP is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  The annual
Health expense is made up of the interest costs incurred and an amount equal to the
principal reduction of the outstanding debt.

Summary Financial Statements

The impact on the Summary Financial Statements is similar to the Special Purpose
Financial Statements’ impact except that on consolidation the deferred charges for
devolved health care entities are eliminated against the long-term debt of those devolved
health care facilities.  What remains are the deferred charges related to non-devolved
health care entities. The related revenues and expenses are also eliminated.  The
exception to GAAP is also reported here, except that it is limited to non-devolved
facilities.

Public Accounts Findings
• The Special Purpose Financial Statements (Operating Fund) do not reflect

the unfunded liability associated with the RHAs’ employee future benefits.

• Because the Province does not recognize in the Operating Fund Financial
Statements the liability associated with RHA employee future benefits,
the RHAs’ accounting treatment of recognizing deferred assets related to
employee future benefits is not in accordance with GAAP.

• Although the Province accounts for the loans made to the RHAs as grants,
we found that the RHAs do not account for the grants in a consistent
manner and inappropriately treat them as loans payable.

Public Accounts Conclusions
• The lack of recognition of the unfunded liability associated with RHAs’

employee future benefits is an exception to GAAP which is presently not
disclosed on the Special Purpose Financial Statements in the amount of
approximately $92.0 million.

• The ‘loans payable’ are in substance grants from the Province and the RHAs
should account for them as deferred contributions rather than as loans
payable.
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NON-DEVOLVED HEALTH CARE ENTITIES
With respect to the Summary Financial Statements, non-devolved health care entities are
included on a combined basis (the Province does not restate the accounting policies used
in their financial statements to be on a basis consistent with the accounting policies of
the Government Reporting Entity (GRE) and no inter-entity transactions are eliminated).

The matter of the accounting treatment of non-devolved entities in the Summary
Financial Statements is a broad issue.  PSAB is currently reviewing the definition of the
GRE. The revised definition would likely include all hospitals, some of which are
presently considered non-devolved entities.  When PSAB completes its project, it may
clarify whether entities such as personal care homes should be part of the GRE.

Findings
• We found that similar to the RHAs, the non-devolved entities record a

deferred contribution asset equal to the unfunded liability associated
with employee future benefits.

• Similar to the RHAs, we also found that not all foundations are properly
accounted for and/or disclosed in the financial statements of non-
devolved entities.

Conclusions
• The accounting treatment for the deferred contribution asset overstates the

non-devolved entities’ net assets by approximately $74.0 million.

• The accounting treatment for the recognition of foundations is not in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Recommendations

Province of Manitoba
• That the Province of Manitoba recognize the liability for employee

future benefits of approximately $173.0 million in the Special
Purpose Financial Statements (Operating Fund) or alternatively
identify the lack of recognition as an exception to generally accepted
accounting principles in the notes to the Operating Fund Financial
Statement.

• That the Province of Manitoba review the estimate of the employee
future benefit liability to ensure the completeness of the amount
reflected in the Summary Financial Statements given the identified
understatement of $6.7 million.

• That the Province of Manitoba properly reflect the impact of the non-
devolved entities’ liability for the employee future benefits in the
Summary Financial Statements.  This would involve eliminating the
offsetting deferred contribution assets of approximately $74.0
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million.  The result will be an increase of approximately $74.0 million
in the accumulated deficit.

• That the Province, similar to their action taken regarding the
funding of the outstanding pension obligation, should develop a
strategy for funding the balance of the employee future benefit
liability.

• That, given the pervasiveness of health care foundations, the
Province assess whether those foundations should be consolidated
with the Summary Financial Statements.  If it is determined that
certain foundations are to be consolidated into the Summary
Financial Statements, the Province should advise those related
health care entities to consolidate the financial statements of the
foundations with the financial statements of the health care
entities.

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA RESPONSE

The Province will begin to record the liabilities for future employee benefits
in the Special Purpose Financial Statements effective April 1, 2004, in
accordance with the phase-in plan arranged with the Auditor General.

The Province did review the estimated liability in the Summary Financial
Statements, and made the required adjustment as at March 31, 2003.

The Summary Financial Statements were adjusted at March 31, 2003 to
reflect an accrued liability equal to the deferred contribution asset
recorded by the non-devolved Health Care Facilities.

It is unfortunate that this change requires offsetting revenue increases or
spending reductions for Balanced Budget purposes despite the fact that
there has been no change in practice or substance in this area since
Balanced Budget legislation was first enacted.

The Province will consider all of the options available to address the
funding issue for these liabilities, including but not restricted to requiring
health care facilities to absorb all or part of it through budgetary and
operational planning.

Through Manitoba Health, the Province will work with health care facilities
to achieve appropriate disclosure of foundations in their financial
statements.
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Manitoba Health

Financial Statements
• That the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan report the accruals

for employee future benefits of the RHAs as a liability in the year in
which they occur together with the related account receivable from
the Province and the annual resultant expenses and revenue.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

For the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan for the Years Ended
March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004:

- The Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan will record the liability
for employee future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care
facilities together with the appropriate amount receivable from the
Province.

For the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan for the Years Ended
March 31, 2005 and Forward:

- The Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan will record the liabilty for
employee future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care
facilities together with the appropriate amount receivable from the
Province and the resultant expenses and revenue.

• That, given the Province’s capital financing to the RHAs is a grant in
accordance with PSAB Section 3410, the funding should be accounted
for by the RHAs as a deferred contribution rather than following the
current practice of recording the funding as long-term debt.  In the
event the RHAs do not adopt this recommendation, the RHAs should
disclose, in the notes to the financial statements, the exception to
GAAP.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

We will ensure that the RHAs are following generally accepted accounting
practice for non-profit organizations in relation to these transactions.

• That Manitoba Health require that each RHA provide a note to its
financial statements reconciling the total funding from Manitoba
Health based on the RHA Funding Document with the revenue
reported from Manitoba Health in the RHA financial statements.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will require each RHA to provide a schedule which reconciles the
revenue as stated in the financial statements to the RHA final funding
document.
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• That Manitoba Health prepare a presentation and disclosure checklist
to be used by the RHAs to establish consistent presentation and
disclosure guidelines for key areas based on the requirements of
Canadian GAAP as provided for in the not-for profit section of the
CICA Handbook.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

For the 2002/03 year end financial statements, MH provided direction to
the RHAs on several areas raised by OAG.

For 2003/04 MH will work on a checklist to be incorporated in the year
end financial reporting package required by Manitoba Finance and
Manitoba Health.

• That Manitoba Health ensure that:

- the RHAs are informed of all CICA handbook requirements with
respect to presentation and disclosure of foundations in the RHA
financial statements;

- the RHAs identify all foundations in their regions and then
assess the foundation relationship and activity in their region
against handbook requirements for appropriate reporting; and

- the RHA financial statements for the next fiscal year include
appropriate disclosure of the related foundations.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH informed the RHAs of the above for 2002/03 and will reiterate the
need for appropriate disclosures in 2003/04.

• That Manitoba Health ensure the RHAs are informed of all CICA
Handbook requirements for presentation and disclosure of employee
future benefits regarding the employer’s obligation with respect to
the Civil Service Superannuation Plan.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH informed the RHAs of the above for 2002/03 and will reiterate the
need for appropriate disclosures in 2003/04.

Operations
• That Manitoba Health establish a schedule as to the frequency of the

actuarial valuation of the liability for pre-retirement allowances.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH communicated the required frequency of valuations to the RHAs.

• That Manitoba Health reconcile, for each RHA, the expenses included
in the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan financial statements
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relating to RHA funding with the revenue reported by each of the
RHAs.  This would include all payments made during the year
together with the effect of opening and closing accruals.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

This will be done in conjunction with the reconciliation schedule to be
required of the RHAs and will form part of the working papers supporting
the Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan financial statements.

• That Manitoba Health review and analyze the nature and amount of
funds that were transferred from the facilities to the foundations at
the time that RHAs were established to determine if the funds that
were transferred should have remained with the RHA.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will review the resources required to complete such a review and
analysis.

• That Manitoba Health has their program staff ensure that the MIS
data is complete and accurate.  The finance officers should agree the
RHA’s audited financial statement information and balances with the
14th month MIS financial information.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH is continually working to increase the accuracy and consistency of the
MIS reporting.  The MIS unit together with the Finance Officers reconciles
the total 14th month MIS financial information with the RHA audited
financial statements.

• That a letter to the RHAs be sent to them in advance of the
finalization of the year-end financial statements advising the RHAs
not to record receivables from Manitoba Health without prior
approval by the Executive Director of Financial Analysis and Support
branch at Manitoba Health.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

The referenced letter was sent to the RHAs for the 2002/03 year end.  This
issue has also been reinforced several times by MH at the RHA CFO
meetings.

Regional Health Authorities
• That the RHAs use the accrual accounting method to record employee

future benefits in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and accordingly not record a deferred asset.  The related
annual costs should be recorded in the period in which they are
incurred rather than when they are paid.  The existing accounting
treatment is not GAAP.  In the event the RHAs do not adopt this
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recommendation, the RHAs should disclose, in the notes to the
financial statements, the exception to GAAP.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

For the RHA Financial Statements for the Years Ended March 31, 2003 and
March 31, 2004:

- The RHA Financial Statements will record the liability for employee
future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care facilities
together with the appropriate amount receivable from Manitoba
Health.

For the RHA Financial Statements for the Year Ended March 31, 2005 and
Forward:

- The RHA Financial Statements will record the liability for employee
future benefits of devolved and non-devolved health care facilities
together with the appropriate amount receivable from Manitoba Health
and the resultant expenses and revenue.

• That pre-retirement entitlements (severance pay) be segregated
from other accrued benefits (e.g., vacation, holiday, overtime pay)
and disclosed separately as a non-current liability of the RHAs rather
than as a current liability.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH has instructed the RHAs to show pre-retirement as a non-current
liability.

• That the RHAs disclose the terms of the severance benefits available
in the MGEU collective bargaining agreement.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will instruct RHAs accordingly.

• That although the policies for in-globe and out-of-globe surpluses
and deficits are well known to the RHAs, these policies be detailed in
all of the RHA financial statements for users who may not be aware
of Manitoba Health policies.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH has provided appropriate note wording for all RHAs to use.  MH will
reinforce the standard wording in 2003/04.

• That the RHAs change the accounting treatment for loans payable to
the Province to recognize deferred contributions thereby reflecting
the substance of the transactions.
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MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will ensure RHAs follow the appropriate accounting treatment.

• That the RHAs consolidate their non-devolved facilities such that
there is separate columnar disclosure of the financial statement
components for devolved and non-devolved health care entities.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

RHAs currently provide this information as part of their year end
reporting package to MH and Manitoba Finance.  MH will reinforce that
this information must be accurate and submitted on a timely basis.

Non-Devolved Health Care Entities
• That the non-devolved entities use the accrual accounting method to

record employee future benefits in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and not record a deferred
asset.  The related annual costs should be recorded in the period in
which they are incurred rather than when they are paid.  The
existing accounting treatment is not GAAP.  In the event that the
non-devolved entities do not adopt this recommendation, the non-
devolved entities should disclose, in the notes to the financial
statements, the exception to GAAP.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will ask RHAs to ensure their non-devolved entities account for future
employee benefits appropriately.

• That the non-devolved entities assess whether they are in
accordance with GAAP with respect to foundations and amend their
financial reporting as necessary.

MANITOBA HEALTH COMMENTS

MH will ask RHAs to encourage their non-devolved entities to review their
accounting treatment of foundations.
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EXHIBIT AMap of Manitoba’s Regional Health Authorities
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EXHIBIT B Non-Devolved Health Corporations by Region
Winnipeg RHA

• Victoria Hospital – established by Private Act
• St. Boniface Hospital - established by Private Act
• Concordia - established by Private Act
• Seven Oaks - established by Private Act
• Grace General Hospital- established by Private Act
• Riverview – the City of Winnipeg owns the facility and Riverview Health

Centre Inc. leases the property from the City
• Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre
• Misericordia - established by Private Act
• The Rehabilitation Centre for Children
• All personal care homes in the City with the exception of Deer Lodge

Centre (designated as both a hospital and a PCH under The Health Services
Insurance Act) which was transferred to the WRHA

Burntwood
• Pinoaw Wachi - personal care home

Central
• Tabor Senior Citizen’s Home - personal care home
• Rock Lake Health District - Rock Lake Hospital and Rock Lake PCH -

established under The District Health and Social Services Act
• Prairie View Lodge – personal care home
• Salem Home Inc. - personal care home
• Eden Mental Health Centre – established by Private Act

Interlake
• Betel Home Foundation - 2 personal care homes
• Red River Place - personal care home – proprietary (i.e., for-profit)
• Tudor House Ltd. - personal care home - proprietary

Parkland
• St. Paul’s Home - personal care home –established by Private Act
• Swan River Hospital District - Swan River Valley Hospital, Swan River

Valley Lodge, Swan River Valley PCH Inc., and Benito Health Centre -
established under The Health Services Act

• McCreary/Alonsa Health Centre - Hospital  and McCreary/Alonsa PCH  -
established under The District Health and Social Services Act

• Ste. Rose General Hospital - hospital - established by Private Act
• Dr. Gendreau Memorial PCH Inc. - personal care home
• Winnipegosis General Hospital Inc. - Winnipegosis General Hospital Inc.

and Winnipegosis -Mossey River PCH Inc.

South Eastman
Menno Home for the Aged - personal care home
St. Adolphe Nursing Home - personal care home - proprietary
Rest Haven Nursing Home - personal care home
Villa Youville Inc. - personal care home

Brandon
Dinsdale Personal Care Home - personal care home
Hillcrest Place Inc. - personal care home - proprietary
Central Park Lodge - personal care home - proprietary
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EXHIBIT CActual Funding by Manitoba Health Since RHA Inception
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Actual Funding by Manitoba Health Since RHA InceptionEXHIBIT C
(cont’d.)
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Deferred Benefit Entitlements (vacation, severance,
retirement), Employee Future Benefits

EXHIBIT D
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Revenue Reported by the RHAs and the Funding Provided by
Manitoba Health for 2001/02

EXHIBIT E
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Review of Accounts Receivable EXHIBIT F
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Analysis of Note Disclosure for Capital Asset AmortizationEXHIBIT G
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Analysis of Net Asset Accounts for RHA’s March 31, 2002
Statements

EXHIBIT H
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Analysis of Selected Note DisclosureEXHIBIT I
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Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector

EXHIBIT J



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003114

REVIEW OF THE SYMMETRY BETWEEN THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF THE

REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES, MANITOBA HEALTH AND THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003126

REVIEW OF THE SYMMETRY BETWEEN THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF THE

REGIONAL HEALTH AUTHORITIES, MANITOBA HEALTH AND THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT J
(cont’d.)

Summary of Information for Foundations Related to the
Health Sector
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EXHIBIT K Organizational Chart
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EXHIBIT LProvince of Manitoba - Devolved Health Care Facilities
As at March 31, 2002

Health Care Facilities
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba
CancerCare Manitoba
Deer Lodge Centre Inc.
Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre Inc.
Manitoba Health Research Council
Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan
Manitoba Hospital Capital Financing Authority

Regional Health Authorities (Devolved Facilities)

Brandon Regional Health Authority Inc.
Burntwood Regional Health Authority Inc.
Churchill RHA Inc.
Interlake Regional Health Authority
Marquette Regional Health Authority Inc.
NOR-MAN Regional Health Authority Inc.
North Eastman Health Authority Inc.
Parkland Regional Health Authority Inc.
Regional Health Authority – Central Manitoba Inc.
South Eastman Health/Sante• Sud-Est Inc.
South Westman Regional Health Authority Inc.
Winnipeg Regional Health Authority

Rehabilitation Centre for Children Inc.
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EXHIBIT M Province of Manitoba - Non-Devolved Healthcare Facilities
As at March 31, 2002

Non-Devolved Components in Rural Regional Health Authorities

Central RHA (Contracted Facilities)
Salem Home Inc.
Tabor Senior Citizens Homes Inc.
Eden Mental Health Centre
Rock Lake Health District
Prairie View Lodge Inc.

South Eastman RHA (Contracted facilities)
Rest Haven Nursing Home
Menno Home for the Aged
Villa Youville Inc.

Parklands RHA (Contracted Facilities)
McCreary/Alonsa Health Centre
Ste. Rose General Hospital
Swan River Valley Hospital
Swan River Valley Personal Care Home Inc.
Benito Health Centre
Winnipegosis – Mossey River Personal Care Home Inc.
Winnipegosis General Hospital
St. Paul’s Home Inc.
Dr. Gendreau Personal Care Home Inc.
Swan River Hospital District No. 1

Interlake Regional Health Authority Inc.
Betel Home (Gimli)
Betel Home (Selkirk)

Winnipeg Hospitals

Concordia Hospital
Grace General Hospital
Misericordia Health Center
Riverview Health Center
St. Boniface General Hospital
Seven Oaks General Hospital
Victoria General Hospital
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Major Personal Care Homes
St. Joseph’s Residence Inc.
Bethania Mennonite Personal Care Home Inc.
Donwood Manor Personal Care Home
Tache Centre
Fred Douglas Personal Care Home
Sharon Home
Foyer Valade Inc.
Holy Family Home
Mount Carmel Clinic
The Middlechurch Home of Winnipeg
Golden West Centennial Lodge
Park Manor Personal Care Home Inc.

Minor Personal Care Homes

The Golden Links Lodge
Pembina Place Mennonite Personal Care Home
Luther Home
Pinaow Wachi Inc.
Dinsdale Personal Care Home
Lions Personal Care Home
The Convalesent Home of Winnipeg
Meadowood Manor Personal Care Home

Other

Westman Regional Laboratory
Village Clinic Inc.
Sexuality Education Resource Center
Hope Center Health Care Inc.
MFL Occupational Health and Safety Center
Norwest Coop Community Health Center Inc.
Klinic Community Health Centre
Main Street Project
Women’s Health Clinic

EXHIBIT M
(cont’d.)
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EXHIBIT N Regional Health Authorities
Employee Future Benefits (Deferred Assets)
March 31, 2002
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Glossary of Terms
Devolved and Non-Devolved Health Care Facilities of the RHAs
All health care facilities that are owned and operated by the RHA are considered
devolved.  All health care facilities which are separate legal entities and receive health
care service funding through a contractual relationship with the RHA are non-devolved.

Global Funding
Funding approved by Manitoba Health for programs at the RHA unless otherwise specified
as protected and/or non-global.  This includes volume changes and price increases for
the five service categories:

• Acute Care
• Long-Term Care
• Community and Mental Health
• Home Care
• Emergency Response and Transport (Land Ambulance/North Patient

Transportation Program)

All additional costs in these five service categories must be absorbed from within the
global funding provided.  The only exceptions are funding approved by Manitoba Health
for changes in the level of care costs at the non-proprietary and proprietary personal
care homes and contracts negotiated.

Global Protected Funding
Protected funding is for specifically designated programs at the RHA.  The funding is
provided as part of the global funding.  Program funds may not be reallocated by the
RHA without prior approval by Manitoba Health.  Additional funding may be allocated to
the RHA by Manitoba Health to meet these service needs.  The programs included as
“protected” in 2002/03 are:

• Laboratory and Imaging Services
• Northern Patient Transportation Program
• Dialysis (including staff training)
• Pam Am Clinic – WRHA
• South Eastman Surgical Program

Non-Global Funding
Non-global funding is approved by Manitoba Health for specific programs.  Subject to
Manitoba Health’s review and approval, shortfalls will be reimbursed by Manitoba Health
and surpluses will be recovered by Manitoba Health.  The following programs are
designated as “non-global” for 2002/03.

• Medical Remuneration/Medical Sessional Payments
• Authorized/Charge Income for personal care residents, patients paneled in

hospital for admission to personal care home and chronic care and respite
care patients.

• Pre-Retirement Leave
• Capital Costs for basic equipment, specialized equipment, personal care

home reserve for major repairs, principal repayment of approved
borrowings, provision for initial down payment on CMHC mortgages (bed
grants) and interest on approved capital debt.

• Accreditation Survey Fees for the original survey fees only.  All
membership and re-survey costs are part of the global funding.

EXHIBIT O
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Introduction
The Taxation Division (Division) of the Department of Finance of Manitoba is responsible
for the effective and efficient administration of various Provincial Taxation Acts and the
proper collection of taxes due to the province as required by legislation.  This includes
the administration, collection, processing and reporting of taxation revenues, as well as
the provision of tax expertise to government, businesses collecting taxes and taxpayers.
The Division also investigates and audits taxpayers to ensure compliance.

The Division administers the following tax Acts:  The Retail Sales Act (RST), The Health
and Education Post Secondary Education Tax Levy Act (HET), The Corporation Capital Tax
Act (CCT), The Gasoline Tax Act (GT), The Motive Fuel Tax Act (MF), The Tobacco Tax Act
(TT), The Revenue Act (RT), and the Mining Tax Act (MT) and the continuing phase-out of
The Manitoba Succession Duty and Gift Tax Acts.

For March 31, 2003 fiscal year, total Division revenues were $1.9 billion of which the
three largest (RST, HET, and CCT) statutes accounted for $1.4 billion for Manitoba and
comprise the vast majority of work done by the Division.  In 1997, the Division began
seeking an integrated solution for the administration of the RST, HET, and CCT with the
capacity to extend to the other remaining tax statutes in order to replace the existing
legacy systems.

By December 1, 2002, the RST, CCT and HET systems had been converted from separate
Information Systems Management Corporation (ISM) Mainframe Legacy systems to the Fast
Canadian Enterprise Ltd.’s (Fast Enterprises) GenTax software application for integrated
tax processing.  The original plan to develop a system in-house was unsuccessful so
GenTax, a commercial off the shelf tax-processing product from Fast Enterprises was
purchased with some modifications specific to Manitoba’s needs.  GenTax is a complete
integrated tax processing software package.  It is designed to support an agency
implementing multiple taxes, with associated business and processing rules.

Since implementing GenTax, the Division is no longer uploading taxpayer information to
ISM for processing but is now able to process the information themselves.  This has had a
significant impact on systems and procedures in the Division, in areas such as remittance
processing, error correct, collections, refunds and audit.

Because this was a major system change that could affect our test of controls approach in
the audit of the Division’s systems, we reviewed the following:

• The data conversion from the old legacy systems to the new integrated
GenTax system; and

• The existence and effectiveness of the internal controls in the new
computer software application, GenTax.
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Background
In 1997, Treasury Board approved the Better Systems Initiative (BSI), as one of several
initiatives within the Province’s strategic plan to improve government’s ability to deliver
better service.  BSI was a government–wide approach to providing the public with single
window access to services and information.  The Taxation Division (Division) joined the
Better Systems Initiative in 1997 with the intention to build an integrated tax system
utilizing emerging technologies such as Object Orientation techniques, Java
programming, and the Internet.  The first two years in BSI, working with the prime
contractor, IBM, primarily involved the discovery and documentation of the Division “as
is” and “to be” worlds.

In 1999, the project team led by IBM completed an application scope document and
authorization was given to proceed to build a system within BSI.  In March 2000, IBM
provided an estimate to build the integrated taxation to completion.  Based on the
substantial cost, resources, and timelines within the estimate, the Division pursued the
viability of purchasing a tax system as an alternative to building a system within BSI
through the budget approval process for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001.  The
number of taxation packages within the market place at this time supported this
decision.

The Division project team led by provincial employees, with IBM in a support role,
proceeded to complete a Request for Proposal (RFP) which consisted of a review of best
practices and an extensive review of the RFP product by the management team within the
Division and the Information Technology management team of BSI.

In August, 2000, the Division issued the RFP for an integrated tax application.  Four
proposals were received.  A software evaluation team was established.  This evaluation
team identified the two leading proposals and requested the vendors to demonstrate
their products.  In November 2000, demonstrations of the products were made to a larger
evaluation team and a lead vendor was identified, Fast Canadian Enterprises Ltd. (Fast
Enterprises).  Final due diligence of the Fast Enterprises team and their product, GenTax,
was performed by the Division project team through a technical review held in Winnipeg
and two site visits to Boise, Idaho, and Victoria, British Columbia in early December
2000.

These reviews validated:

• the high degree of functionality met by the GenTax product;
• the soundness of the GenTax product’s technical solution;
• the minimized impact to operations and maintenance with this

technology;
• the quality project management skills of the Fast Enterprises Team; and
• the successful performance of the GenTax product.
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FORMER LEGACY SYSTEMS
Taxation’s computer processing environment had consisted of three standalone Cobol
(programming language) based applications for processing of tax returns and payments
relating to RST, HET, and CCT.  These systems had been developed internally and dated
back to 1967.  To date, the other remaining statutes are still being delivered manually
through Clipper (programming language) based applications although additional GenTax
applications are under development.  The Division wanted to progress from these systems,
their process and service inhibitors.  The Division had many system inhibitors including:

• the inability to deal with a business across statutes and systems;
• very limited retention of  taxpayer account information;
• paper based data entry (labour intensive);
• overnight and or scheduled processing;
• static reports with limited data (no ability to manipulate);
• the inability to have on line or ad hoc reports, only the Information

Technology (IT) staff had report generating capabilities;
• limited access by staff to some or all of the statutes delivered by the

stand-alone environments;
• restricted environment to implement new policy and business rules within

the system;
• risk to support and maintain aging Cobol systems; and
• inability to achieve progressive client service with these systems,

(i.e., e-filing, internet access).

OBJECTIVES IN TEAMING UP WITH BETTER SYSTEMS INITIATIVE
The Division’s business goals upon joining BSI included:

• Replacement of  the Taxation legacy systems with a solution that
provided additional functionality as well as a consolidated view of
business with obligations under multiple statutes;

• Functionality to be gained with a new taxation application included:

- Comprehensive financial transaction view of a business across
accounts or by account;

- On line adjustments;
- System automation of workflow, financial calculations

(i.e., commissions);
- Increased accuracy in reporting; and
- Web enablement;

• Business clients having the ability to file, pay and contact utilizing one
business number;

• Business clients having the ability to file, pay and view on-line via the
web through the BSI single portal;

• The Division streamlining their processes on-line to enable quicker more
accurate service to the business client;
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• Workflow enabling a single view to the business activity on a business
client (this would enable more effective results both from a service and
compliance perspective);

• Enabling business clients to have dual registration with the Companies
Office Branch and the Division (this objective was dependent upon the
Common Business Identifier (CBI) and the Companies Office projects
achieving the common goal of dual registration);

• Utilization of the federal Business Number (BN) through the CBI project to
enable the sharing of business information with the Canada Custom and
Revenue Agency (CCRA) to achieve enhanced quality of audit and
collection data generating increased program revenues; and

• Development of Manitoba IT staff.

ROLL OUT

Integrated Taxation Project

The project was governed under an overriding IT Products and Services Agreement, which
was supplemented by the RFP, the Fast Enterprises Proposal, Implementation Plan,
Release Plans and Statement of Works within each release plan.  The project governed
under the IT Products and Service Agreement with Fast Enterprises commenced June 4,
2001 and concluded on March 31, 2003.

The integrated taxation project originally consisted of three releases, RST, HET and CCT,
all statute based.  Subsequently the project was extended to include a fourth release –
the taxation audit module for use by the Taxation Audit branch of the Division.  During
the same time frame, the development and implementation of Taxation Manitoba Business
Links (common business identifier solution) technical solution with Fast Enterprises
resources in a support role.

The Division’s driving principle was to maintain the base GenTax Core product and limit
site specific configurations to ensure ease of future enhancements and restrict support
and maintenance requirements.  The integrated tax project achieved this goal with the
Manitoba site specific configurations being primarily limited to reports and letters.

The Integrated Tax Project team primarily consisted of members from the Division, BSI,
and Fast Canadian Enterprises Ltd.  The primary roles from each area were:
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• Division:  Project Manager, Subject Matter Experts, IT staff (business
analysts, developers, technical support);

• Fast Enterprises:  Project Manager, Release Manager, Technical Lead, Team
Leads, Developers; and

• BSI:  Communications, Organization Transformation, and Technical
support (implementation lead, architect, and environment support).

The project team was supplemented by additional staff users participating in
configuration, testing, and training.  The Division committed these resources as required
with impacts to production and program delivery.

A management sponsor team consisting of the Division and BSI Management supported
and governed the Integrated Tax project.  This sponsorship team met weekly with project
management if required to ensure necessary direction and decisions were made on a
timely basis to meet project deadlines.

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
• All four releases were completed on time.

• The integration of accounts across the three statutes (HET, RST, CCT) under
one business entity was achieved.  Originally the adoption of the federal
business number was to have achieved the integration.  However the
implementation of the federal business number proceeded later than
original planned, nearer the completion of the implementation of GenTax,
therefore the Division proceeded to integrate within the database.

• The Integrated Tax Project was located on site within the Division.

• Decisions and support were provided by the Project Sponsors on a timely
basis which did not compromise release deadlines.

• A decision request process was implemented which enabled the tracking
and recording of decisions outstanding and completed.

• The integrated project team maintained a good working relationship with
the vendor, Fast Canadian Enterprises Ltd.

• The project sponsor team contracted a human resource consultant to
manage the organizational change impacts of the project on the Division
and work as the primary support and transition expert with the Division.

• Transition of the training responsibility to Manitoba business staff as
early as Release 2 (RST); this included completion of the training plan,
delivery of the courses, compilation of the training material and
documentation.

• Data cleansing of taxpayer information became a necessary workload as
some of the information in the existing database was incorrect or
inconsistent.  This was accomplished through out the releases in order to
deliver the goal of data integrity into the new GenTax system.
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• A mentoring commitment by Fast Enterprises and Manitoba IT staff was
established to transition the necessary skills and knowledge from Fast
Enterprises to Manitoba to support the GenTax product post project.

• Simple easy to follow project plans were communicated and implemented.
Detailed statements of works were adhered to and risk mitigated on an
ongoing basis.

Data Conversion
The three taxes, HET, RST and CCT were converted to GenTax in stages and a new release
was rolled out for each as described above.

The data for HET was converted to GenTax on January 25, 2002.  Since this date was in
the previous fiscal year, the HET conversion was reviewed as part of the Public Accounts
audit for the year ended March 31, 2002.  RST data was converted on June 27, 2002 and
CCT data was converted on November 29, 2002.  The RST and CCT conversions were
reviewed as part of the Public Accounts audit for the year ended March 31, 2003.

The GenTax Taxation Audit Module went live on March 17, 2003.  Therefore, the
implementation of the audit module had a minimal impact on the Taxation Audit branch’s
operations for the year ended March 31, 2003.

The Manitoba Business Links (MBL) Technical Solution went live on May 12, 2003.  The
implementation of MBL Technical Solution and the Audit Module will be reviewed as part
of the March 31, 2004 Public Accounts audit.

The conversion of the remaining tax statutes are scheduled to take place during the 2004
fiscal year, and therefore will be reviewed as part of the Public Accounts audit for the
year ended March 31, 2004.

Our audit procedures for the conversion of the HET, RST, and CCT included reviewing
the conversion process as documented by the project team including signoffs,
reviewing and reconciling ending balances in the legacy systems with opening balances
in GenTax.

Based on the results of the audit procedures performed, we concluded that the data
from the legacy systems for the three statutes was successfully converted to GenTax.

GenTax System Description
The GenTax application consists of a suite of integrated modules which support the core
processes of Taxation for multiple taxes.  The user interface is a standard Windows
environment.  Across the top of the main window are manager icons for access to the
different functions of the application.  Access to the manager icons depends on users’
level of security.

Each user logs on to the system with a unique password.  Each user is assigned a “role”
within a “group” (e.g., role=clerk; group=Tax Roll Maintenance).  Functions performed in
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GenTax are assigned function numbers.  Each role within each group has access (either
“read only” or “permit changes”) to a set of function numbers.  Through this assignment
process, certain users have access to certain functions required to do their job and are
prohibited from other functions.  A summary of the functions and roles/groups is set out
in a functional access matrix.  The functional access matrix establishes a framework for
controls surrounding the segregation of incompatible functions and change capability
within the program.  A change management system exists for changes or amendments
related to GenTax.

Each transaction entered in the system is assigned a transaction number generated by the
system.  GenTax tracks each transaction by the person who logged in and entered the
transaction.

The following modules and support functions exist within GenTax:  Registration Module,
Work Items Function, Financials View Function, Transactions Module, Collections Module,
Letters Function, Refunds Module, Payments Module, Returns Module, Reports Function,
and Revenue Account Module.

GenTax System Controls Testing
We documented our understanding of the controls within the Gentax system for each of
the RST, HET and CCT taxation revenue systems.

Walk-through tests for taxation revenue systems were done in relation to significant
audit assertions related to these systems.  These included testing the key controls
involving the occurrence, measurement and completeness of revenue as well as the
existence, ownership and valuation of  accounts receivable and payable.

Our testing included enquiry, inspection, observation and re-performance. We assessed
that the controls identified as part of our documentation process are in place and are
operating effectively.

We concluded that we can place reliance on the internal controls in the Gentax system
for each of the RST, HET and CCT revenue systems.

Other Processes

FINE LINE 2000 INC. PROCESSING
Fine Line 2000 Inc. (Fineline) began remittance processing for RST effective March 1,
2001.

The processing of RST returns under the Fineline system includes:

• Mail collection;
• Sorting of Payments (RST only, Nil returns, 1 cheque with 2 returns);
• Verification of payment acceptability (scanned and sent to Fineline);
• Data entry;
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• Imaging of Returns and Cheques (Kept at Fineline);
• Transmission output to Taxation each day; and
• Deposit of funds received.

Fineline transmits all information from returns processed to the Division.  The Division is
responsible for uploading the information into GenTax.  After the upload, GenTax will
create a work item to be resolved for anything that GenTax cannot process.

Until the implementation of GenTax, out of province batches did not receive a late filing
penalty on the 20th because the paperwork did not get to Fineline until the 26th.  GenTax
allows a four day grace period before late penalties are assessed for all accounts.

RST remitters are also able to make their payments and submit their returns through
their financial institution by using a transaction called Acceptance Payment on Account
(APA).  Remittances and returns are submitted to the remitter’s bank or credit union.
APA returns received by banks are forwarded to Fineline to be processed and the funds
are transferred to the Division’s RST APA bank account.  There may be a delay at Fineline
between the deposit of APA funds and the processing of returns.  Fineline sends the
processed returns and a summary of payments received to the Division.  Returns are
transferred direct to Fineline and are processed through their system.  A report is
received each day from Fineline which includes the APA transactions processed.

WIRE TRANSFER
Wire transfer returns are faxed by the taxpayers to the division and the funds are
deposited to a Division bank account.  Faxed returns and the Royal Bank list of daily wire
transfer returns are forwarded to the Division to be processed in-house.

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE IN-HOUSE PROCESSING SYSTEM
Fineline processes most RST returns and payments.  However, HET, CCT and some RST are
processed in-house.

Returns that are received in person (cash, cheque, or interac) at the division are
processed through the Finance Department’s RST system.  If there is no return with the
payment, a voucher is prepared in GenTax by Cash Control and sent to Fineline for
processing.  These are usually related to small dollar or seasonal remitters.

The Cashier receives remittances paid in person or postdated cheques:

• For cash and interac payments a voucher is created in GenTax for the
payment.  Voucher media number is scanned into POS+ to record
payment; and

• For postdated cheque payments:
- Postdated cheques are accompanied by a voucher;
- The vouchers are scanned into POS+ and cheques and vouchers are

validated; and
- A batch header is attached and the batch is forwarded to the deposit

desk.

Remittance Processing receives the returns, cheques and vouchers in batches from Cash
Control and the vouchers and returns in batches from the Cashier.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 147

A REVIEW OF GENTAX:
AN INTEGRATED TAX PROCESSING SOFTWARE APPLICATION

In Remittance Processing Area

For each individual payment in the batch, the cheque amount is entered and the return/
voucher is scanned into POS+.  If the cheque amount differs from the return, the cheque
amount is written on the return.  Tracer numbers are automatically assigned by the POS+
system.  Returns or vouchers are validated by the POS+ system.

The return and remittance information entered into POS+ by remittance processing and
the electronic information received from FineLine is uploaded to the GenTax database
during the night.  After the upload to the database, GenTax compares the information
uploaded from POS+ with the batch headers that were entered manually into GenTax.
GenTax checks to see if the number of items and the total amount of each payment batch
equals the amounts on the payment batch header and if the number of returns in each
return batch uploaded equals the number of items added to the return batch header.
GenTax also checks that each individual payment or return can be matched to a taxpayer
account in GenTax.  If a problem is detected, a work item is generated in GenTax.  Follow-
up is done on any work items generated by GenTax.  Work items may be generated for
payment and return batches.

DAILY/MONTHLY BALANCING AND RECONCILIATIONS
In GenTax, report MB_PR101 Batch Detail Report is run for the prior business day.  This
report lists all the batches processed by GenTax which are entered in the cashbook under
the “Computer Processed” column and are matched to the amounts in the “Office
Processed” column, which amounts are entered for each batch processed by Fineline
(from Fineline report) or by Remittance Processing (from deposit summary).  If they do
not match, the difference is entered in the not processed column.

In GenTax, report MB_TR508 Balancing Summary is run for the prior business day.  This
report provides a listing of transactions by type for the day.  From the Revenue Manager,
revenue reports are run for the day and year-to-date (YTD).  The daily cycle is balanced
by reconciling the daily and YTD revenue to the prior day YTD.

Entries are posted from the Finance Departmental Receipt Distributions to SAP general
ledger (SAP) and a copy of the entry from SAP is printed.  This entry records the daily
deposit as revenue.

REVENUE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The Daily deposits are recorded in revenue in the appropriate tax revenue account.  RST
and HET deposits that are deposited in April per SAP are accrued as Accounts Receivable
as at the March 31 year end.  In the case of CCT, the Finance Department has taken the
position that most companies have a December 31 fiscal year end and by the following
March 31 would have filed their annual remittances.  An accrual for the 3 month period
is not prepared in the case of CCT.  The effect year over year is considered minimal.

Accounts in Arrears are also set up as Accounts Receivable as at March 31 for RST, HET
and CCT.  GenTax produces Arrears reports which are used to record the accounts
receivable at year-end.
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REFUNDS
There is an automatic upload from GenTax to SAP for refunds.  Once a refund has been
appropriately authorized in GenTax through the work items and review criteria, it is
electronically batched and uploaded to SAP.  The refund cheques are issued from this
upload.

RETURNED ITEMS (NSF CHEQUES/CHARGEBACKS)
When a deposit item is returned NSF or charged back to the bank account, the recorded
revenue is reversed.  This is different than the recording of NSFs in other departments
where a receivable is set up for the NSF amount until the amount is collected or written
off.

NSF cheques are recorded in both GenTax and SAP.  In GenTax, an adjustment is made to
remove the original payment and an NSF fee is charged to the taxpayer’s account.  The
TR_501 A/R Bad Cheque Report lists all the returned items processed by date posted.
This report is the support for the reversing entry in SAP or for the MB cheque required to
deposit to the Fineline chargeback account.

Items may be charged back from deposits to the main bank account or deposits to
Fineline and APA accounts.  NSFs and Chargebacks to the main account are processed
differently than NSF chargebacks to the Fineline and APA accounts:

• Items deposited to the main account are returned to a chargeback
account which is automatically cleared with a month end transfer from
the main account.  These NSFs are recorded as accounts receivable and
then reversed effectively reversing the revenue.  The reversing entry is
based on the Chargeback report produced in GenTax; and

• Items deposited to the Fineline and APA bank accounts that are returned
NSF are charged back to a separate bank account.  Amounts charged back
to this account must be reimbursed by a cheque from the main account.
The returned items are recorded in GenTax and the information is used to
issue a cheque to this account to the main account.  The amount of the
cheque is charged to the revenue account effectively reversing the
revenue.  The activity in the chargeback account is not reflected in SAP
and the account is not automatically cleared to the main account.  The
chargeback is recorded in SAP when the funds are reimbursed from the
main account to the chargeback account.

MONTHLY RETURNS/STATEMENTS
Returns and statements are generated automatically by GenTax for each taxpayer and an
electronic file is produced.  This file is produced and sent to Mail Management Agency
(MMA) to be printed and mailed to the taxpayers.
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Improvements
The implementation of GenTax has provided many improvements over the legacy system:

• Comprehensive financial transaction view of a business across accounts or
by account;

• Real time, on-line adjustments and account maintenance;

• Common penalty and interest across statutes.  The interest calculated is
now accruing daily with a monthly allocation and results in more
stringent compliance enforcement;

• System automation of workflow (approvals and tracking) and financial
calculations (i.e., retail sales tax commissions);

• Real time view of a business across the Division, this includes:

- actions in progress, (i.e., audit, collections, waivers);
- documentation through the notes function- the audit and collection

journals which is basically central repositories of information not
previously accessible on-line;

- suspend returns or returns in error notifications; and
- work items in progress.

This enhances the ability of the Division to deliver one-stop client
services and reduces the need for the paper file;

• Automated system offsets.  The system within policy guidelines
automatically offsets liabilities with credits between accounts under one
taxpayer, reducing manual intervention on accounts for more effective
use of resources.  In addition, any credit is prohibited from being
refunded where there is a debt outstanding under a taxpayer;

• Collections improved tools include:

- Collection visuals (provides a snapshot view of a taxpayer filing and
payment habits);

- Collection risk code provides an indication of potential/risk to the
Division;

- Automated storing of revenue reports;
- Automated assignment of accounts;
- Improved process to issue notice of estimates; and
- Improved statistical reports on compliance action and results (better

assessment of program success).

• Ability to create real time reports on-line;

• Improved information reporting by the amount of data stored within an
account and taxpayer.

• Ability to create reports and or queries within defined parameters.  This
enables the Division to better assess program delivery;
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• Audit standalone function (allows Audit to download audits and time
sheets including core information about the client, and financial extracts
and then upload the audit which automatically updates GenTax);

• Audit financial information extracts (allows auditors to use the
information electronically in customized spreadsheets);

• Automation of account inhibitors (i.e., stop mail indicators, stop
interest, stop returns, etc.); and

• Business staff involved in the project met face to face weekly with their
work areas to update the project status and decisions.  This was
implemented after release 1 and was well received by the Division staff.

Lessons Learned
Upon completion of the integrated tax project, the project team noted several lessons
learned during the project.  Some items have also affected operations after conversion.  A
summary of those learnings and items follow:

• The project team felt that timelines should be have been extended to
include increased mentoring of IT staff by Fast Enterprises.  The timelines
did not offer sufficient knowledge transfer to Manitoba IT staff.  The
aggressive schedule to implementation and the contractual obligations of
Fast Enterprises did not allow for the necessary time to train the
Manitoba IT staff.  As a result, it took longer for Manitoba IT staff to learn
the product to enable support and maintenance and proceed with
implementation of the remaining statutes;

• Change requests from the Division staff were accepted soon after the
initial release.  The project team felt this was too early and it encouraged
staff to continually look to change the product.  Many of the change
requests were a result of unfamiliarity of the program.  The Division
should have been advised to utilize what had been implemented, become
familiar with the product, and then been advised of the opportunity to
change the product.  This would have resulted in more quality change
requests and allowed for more efficient use of Manitoba IT’s staff time.
The volume of change requests has resulted in backlogged workload for
Manitoba IT;

• The project team noted a large number of incident reports submitted in
error.  It felt that desk side support resources needed to be on the
production floor longer with more hands on support.  This would have
reduced the number of incident reports submitted erroneously and the
resources committed to the investigation of same;

• Regular written communications were issued during the project.
However, the project team noted that staff claimed to be unaware of key
work products, policy, and changes to process;

• Business Activity Charts (BACs) were developed for each area in the
Division.  The BACs were developed to predict processes using GenTax
based on processes in place prior to GenTax.  The project team felt the
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development of BACs utilized valuable project resources in attempting to
predict what may occur when the predictions were often proved to be
wrong.  New business processes and process changes could not be
identified until after implementation into production;

• The project used a Human Resources consultant to assist the project team
on organizational change.  The project team found that the accelerated
timelines of the project severely affected the ability to successfully
deliver organizational change.  Further, the project team noted that
organization and process transition continues long after the project ends
and needs to be a quantified workload to be resourced within the
Division.  This ongoing workload includes new position descriptions, new
organization structure and procedures; and

• The processes prior to conversion had been in place for many years under
the legacy system.  The project team felt that it failed to assess the depth
of the resistance to the implementation of GenTax.  Adaptation to the
change is ongoing.

Limitations
Certain limitations in Gentax were noted as follows:

• GenTax does not allow for converted financial information to be adjusted
in an efficient manner.  Many problems were encountered by staff after
conversion when trying to make adjustments to converted data.  The
project team felt that an improved technical solution to deal with
converted data should have been included in the program.  It was a
problem that was not anticipated so a solution was not requested at the
beginning of the project.  The Division is requesting that changes to the
core GenTax program in the future will allow changes to converted data;
and

• Gentax does not interface with SAP and as a result, manual journal entries
must be prepared by the Division to record in SAP the transactions
processed in GenTax.  In addition, the Division has not revised its
accounting treatment to record daily transactions on an accrual basis of
accounting and only records accounts receivable and payable at year end.

Conclusion
Overall, we concluded that the implementation of Gentax, an integrated tax processing
software application, with respect to Health and Education Tax, Retail Sales Tax and
Corporation Capital Tax and the attendant data conversion, was successful.  In addition,
based on our review of the internal controls in Gentax, we were satisfied with the
existence and effectiveness of sufficient internal controls in Gentax to permit the use
of a test of controls approach in our audit of this tax processing system.  A detailed
report with recommendations was provided to the Division to assist with specific
internal control improvements.
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Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB)
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) sets out Generally Accepted
Accounting Principals (GAAP) for entities in Canada.  The recommendations and guidance
on accounting for businesses and not-for-profit entities are detailed in the CICA
Accounting Handbook.

However there are unique accounting issues encountered in the public sector that are
different from the issues encountered in the private sector.  The CICA recognized the
unique characteristics of accounting in the public sector and established the Public
Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) to issue recommendations and guidance regarding GAAP
in the public sector.  These recommendations and guidance strengthen accountability in
the public sector through developing, recommending and gaining acceptance of
accounting and financial reporting standards. PSAB recommendations and guidance are
detailed in the PSAB Handbook.

The PSAB defines the public sector to include federal, provincial, territorial and local
governments, government organizations, government partnerships and school boards.

The public sector reported on by the Office of the Auditor General in Manitoba is
comprised of the Summary Financial Statements of the Province of Manitoba and the
government organizations consolidated in these statements.   This is described as the
Government Reporting Entity.

PSAB recommendations directly apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the
Government of Manitoba.  The Auditor’s Report issued by the Office of the Auditor General
in Manitoba on the Summary Financial Statements reflect the extent to which
government financial statements comply with PSAB standards.

Our Office and private sector auditors report on the financial statements of the
government organizations making up the Government Reporting Entity.  These
government organizations may base their accounting on the PSAB Handbook or the CICA
Accounting Handbook depending on the nature of the organization.  Government
business-type organizations and government not-for-profit organizations adhere to the
recommendations in CICA Accounting Handbook.   Other government organizations base
the accounting policies on those that most appropriately reflect to their objectives and
circumstances - based on the accounting recommendations of PSAB or on the
recommendations in CICA Accounting Handbook.  Where PSAB or CICA Handbook is silent
on a particular issue, the entity obtains guidance from other acceptable sources.

PSAB is responsible for developing Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for
the public sector.  Accordingly, it has approved a number of projects to develop these
standards.

After developing the draft standards, PSAB then issues exposure drafts on the proposed
standards to be included in the Handbook.  Comments on the proposed standards are
requested from interested parties.  Depending on the comments received the standards in
the exposure drafts may be adopted, changed, reissued as another exposure draft or
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withdrawn.  Once adopted the standards are included in the Handbooks and are then
considered GAAP.

PSAB also issues research studies to provide guidance on specific areas.

New and Future PSAB Handbook Sections
Affecting Financial Reporting in Public
Accounts
The new Handbook sections, exposure drafts and other projects highlighted below have a
potential affect on GAAP for the Public Accounts of the Province of Manitoba.

NEW PSAB HANDBOOK SECTIONS

1. Government Reporting Model for Senior Governments - Sections
PS 1000, PS 1100 and PS 1200

The reporting model is the basis by which financial statements are
presented for governments.  The new sections revise the existing
standards that describe the objectives and reporting requirements for
senior (federal, provincial and territorial governments) governments.

Previously, PSAB required the Summary Financial Statements of senior
governments to be reported using a net debt model which focused on
debt and effectively removed tangible capital and other non-financial
assets in determining the net position of government.  The new reporting
model is an expensed-based model tailored to highlight the unique
characteristics of government.  Under the new model, both the net debt
position and the expense based accumulated surplus/deficit are presented
in the Statement of Financial Position.  The Statement of Financial
Position includes tangible capital and other assets.  The Statement of
Operations (Revenue and Expenses) reports the annual surplus/deficit as
the difference between revenues and expenses.

The new reporting model is consistent with the way Manitoba is currently
reporting in its financial statements.  The Summary Financial Statements
of the Province of Manitoba are on an expense basis with information on
net debt disclosed.  Therefore, there will only be minor changes necessary
to the Summary Financial Statements.  We have provided an example of
the application of the new government reporting model as it would apply
to the presentation of the 2003 Summary Financial Statements in this
report.

Effective date – The new standards are effective for all fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2005.
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2. Government Reporting Entity for Senior Governments – Definition -
Section PS 1300

What entities should be consolidated in the Summary Financial
Statements?  The revised PSAB Handbook Section PS 1300 recommends
that the GRE should be comprised of entities that are controlled by the
government.  Control is defined as the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of another entity with expectation of benefit or the
risk loss to the government from the entity’s activities.  The section
provides indicators of control to guide governments in assessing whether
control exists for financial reporting purposes.  Some indicators of
control are more persuasive than others but on balance it is the
preponderance of evidence that would be considered in determining
whether control exists.

The Province of Manitoba will need to determine if entities previously
excluded, such as school boards, should be included in the Summary
Financial Statements.

Effective date – The new standards are effective for all fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2005.

3. Foreign Currency Translation - Section PS 2600

The new PSAB Handbook section on foreign currency translation revises
the standards in the public sector for recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of transactions and balances denominated in a
foreign currency.  The new section continues the deferral and
amortization of gains and losses on long term monetary items.  This
concept is relatively unchanged from previous recommendations.
However, the international community is moving toward immediate
recognition of the foreign currency gains and losses.  Recognizing this
trend, PSAB will revisit this issue in three years.

The new section also recommends certain conditions that must be present
for hedge accounting to be present and disclosure requirements designed
to highlight a government’s exposure to currency risk and the policies for
managing that risk.

There is no major impact on Public Accounts beyond the requirement for
further disclosure, as foreign currency exchange gains/losses are
presently deferred and amortized.

Effective date – Recommendations of the new Handbook Section PS 2600
are applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2003.

PSAB PROJECTS
4. Liabilities, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

PSAB has released a Statement of Principles (SOP) related to liabilities,
contingent liabilities and commitments. The SOP proposes changes to the
definitions of liabilities, contingent liabilities and commitments.
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In general, the liability definition was broadened to include those
obligations that result from transactions and events beyond those related
to agreements, contracts and legislation in force as at the accounting
date.

A definition of a contingent liability was provided to assist in assessing
contingent liabilities.  In the past, PSAB has only provided a general
definition of a contingency.  The SOP also proposes that contingent
liabilities should be accrued when it is likely that a future event will
confirm that a liability existed as at the accounting date.

The SOP expands the disclosure of information related to commitments.

The resulting exposure draft and eventual PSAB Handbook section will
have a direct impact on how the Government records and discloses
liabilities, contingent liabilities and commitments.

Status:  Statement of Principles was released and comments were received.
It is expected that a draft exposure draft will released for comments
shortly.

5. Government Transfers

A Statement of Principles (SOP) was released concurrently with the SOP
related to liabilities, contingent liabilities and commitments due to
interrelated reporting requirements.  The government transfers project
was initiated because governments and their auditors were interpreting
the existing standard differently and some new transfer issues had arisen
since the original standard was issued.

In preparing the SOP, the PSAB task force was divided on certain issues,
the most controversial of which was multi-year funding.  Should funding
that is transferred to a recipient in one year, but relates to future years,
be recognized in the current year, or future years, by the transferring
government?  The two points of view can be characterized as:

- Asset/Liability – immediate recognition of expense; or

- Revenue/Expense – recognize as expense over the period funded.

The PSAB task force decided to prepare the SOP based on the Asset/
Liability position and issued the SOP to the public sector community to
receive comments and determine the most generally accepted conclusion.

The resultant position, based on the comments received, on government
transfers will have a direct impact on how the Government records
government transfers.

Status: Statement of Principles was released and comments were received.

6. Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis

PSAB has undertaken a project to develop guidance for the presentation
of financial statement discussion and analysis (FSD&A) as supplementary
information in a government’s financial report.  The objective of the
FSD&A would be to enhance the usefulness of accountability information
presented by the public sector.
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PSAB decided that FSD&A should be discretionary disclosure and not form
part of GAAP.  Accordingly, PSAB released a draft Statement of
Recommended Practice (SORP).  PSAB reached this decision based on
responses to the Statement of Principles (SOP) previously issued.  The
respondents to the SOP indicated that the government community was
concerned that the inclusion of FSD&A information would slow down the
production of the financial statements and would pose a resource issue
for preparers.  PSAB concluded that FSD&A was the first stage of its
performance reporting initiative.  Providing discretionary guidance would
encourage governments to prepare FSD&A information in the manner
suggested by the SORP without imposing a mandatory additional
reporting burden on government.

FSD&A information would include narrative explanations and graphical
depiction of the period reported on highlighting the significant events
and conditions that shaped the information presented in the financial
statements.  It would include an analysis of key variances and trends in
the financial information.

Status:  Draft Statement of Recommended Practices was released and
responses received.

7. GAAP

PSAB provides the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
the public sector.  However, there are instances where PSAB is silent in
particular areas.  Where this happens, the entities have to look to other
sources for guidance.  A GAAP hierarchy would identify those other
sources and the level of authority they have.

This project will address those issues directly involved in identifying and
determining the acceptable sources, and levels of authority those sources
have, in a hierarchy.

Status: A Statement of Principles was sent to PSAB Associates for
comment.

8. Government Reporting Entity - Accounting

As a result of feedback from constituents on the Exposure Draft regarding
the definition of the government reporting entity, PSAB directed the task
force on the government reporting entity to also consider the accounting
issues related to the government reporting entity.  As a result of this, the
task force developed, and PSAB approved, an issues paper on the
accounting issues to be sent to PSAB’s Associates for comment.

Currently, entities are fully consolidated into the Summary Financial
Statements with the exception of government business enterprises (GBEs)
which are consolidated on a modified equity basis.  Respondents to the
Exposure Draft questioned whether “SUCH” (school boards, universities,
colleges and hospitals) sector entities should also be consolidated on a
modified equity basis.  These entities do not meet the definition of a GBE
but are fairly autonomous.
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PSAB released an issue paper setting out the characteristics of
organizations that typically have a different relationship with the
government and therefore are somewhat distinct and the accounting for
them.

Based on the responses from the issue paper, PSAB decided not to propose
modified equity as a basis of consolidating “SUCH” sector entities.
However, PSAB has released an Exposure Draft proposing transitional
provisions that would allow an exception to full consolidation for some
government organizations that are brought in the government reporting
entity (GRE) as a result of applying the revised GRE definition in the PSAB
Section PS 1300.  In limited cases, a government may choose to defer
fully consolidating certain government organizations until fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2007 and could apply modified equity
accounting instead during the transitional period.

The proposed transitional provisions would apply only to government
organizations that have not been included as part of the government
reporting entity in the financial statements of the previous fiscal year,
and that have specific characteristics, as set out in the Exposure Draft.
Many of these would be organizations in the SUCH sector.

If approved as PSAB standards, the recommendations from the exposure
may affect how the Province of Manitoba accounts for new entities
included in the Summary Financial Statements due to the application of
revised definition of the GRE in PS 1300.

Status:  Exposure Draft released.

9. Financial Instruments

PSAB has approved a project on financial instruments.

The PSAB Handbook does not have presentation and disclosure standards
for sophisticated, non-traditional financial instruments.  As a result,
inconsistent recognition and measurement practices have developed and
there is concern that reported information of financial instruments is
inadequate to enable users of financial statements to understand fully the
financial effects of a government’s use of financial instruments.

The CICA Handbook for accounting standards of the private sector has
presentation and disclosure standards but does not yet include
recognition and measurement principles.  However, in April 2003 the
Accounting Standards Board approved three Exposure Drafts:  “Financial
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”, “Comprehensive Income”,
and “Hedges”.  Responses on these Exposure Drafts were requested by
July 31, 2003 and the effective date of the new standards would be for
fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2004.  These new standards
in the CICA Handbook will be applicable to government business
enterprises and government business-type enterprises for the purposes of
preparing their own financial statements.

The PSAB project on financial instruments will contribute to a better
understanding of government financial instruments and their use.  After
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this understanding is obtained, they will look at recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure principles for financial
instruments.

This project will establish recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure principles for the Government’s financial instruments.

Status: Project proposal was approved.

10. Funds and Reserves

Many senior governments have stabilization funds or financial reserves
that are used as tools for managing government finances.  These funds or
reserves take a variety of forms with varied presentation and disclosure.
PSAB has issued a draft guideline providing guidance on presenting
information related to stabilization funds or financial reserves that will
apply to senior governments.

Basically, the draft Guideline requires that information on these funds and
reserves should be disclosed in notes to the financial statements and not
on the Statement of Financial Position.  The guideline does not apply to
restricted funds.

This guideline will not require the Province of Manitoba to change its
presentation on the Summary Financial Statements as they do not disclose
their special funds on the Statement of Financial Position except for
pension assets which as described in this report should be disclosed by
the classification of assets held and not as pension assets.

Status:  A draft guideline has been issued.

11. Infrastructure Research Study

PSAB Handbook Section PS  3150 paragraph 09 requires that “tangible
capital assets should be accounted for and reported as assets in the
statement of financial position”.  Infrastructure assets form a significant
component of tangible capital assets.  However, many governments have
not recorded the infrastructure assets in their financial statements
because of issues faced in valuing and recording infrastructure assets.

PSAB approved a research study with the objective of exploring
approaches to accounting and reporting infrastructure assets.

The research study has now been completed and released and should be a
very valuable tool for the Province of Manitoba in developing accounting
and reporting standards on infrastructure assets.  The research study
should provide guidance on the accounting and valuation issues.

A summary of the research study conclusions follows:

• Financial information about infrastructure should be provided.

• Infrastructure should be reported as an asset.

• Infrastructure acquired in lieu of developer charges or other fees, and
other “acquired” infrastructure should be included in the stock of
infrastructure.
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• The cost of using infrastructure should be reported.

• Information about the stock of infrastructure should be accounted
for on a component basis.

• Infrastructure should be depreciated over its useful life.  At
acquisition, acquired or self-constructed infrastructure should be
measured at cost.

• At acquisition, “contributions” of infrastructure should be measured
at estimated cost.

• Subsequent to acquisition, infrastructure should be measured at
current depreciated reproduction cost. Until the issue of accounting
for inflation is addressed for all assets and liabilities, however,
measurement subsequent to acquisition would remain on a historical
cost basis with disclosures of current depreciated reproduction
costs.

• Information about infrastructure condition should be provided.

• Information related to deferred maintenance should be provided as
part of the infrastructure condition information.

• Information about a government’s infrastructure management plan
should be provided.

NEW ASSURANCE (AUDITING) STANDARDS
12. Auditor’s Reports on Financial Statements Prepared Using a Basis

of Accounting Other Than Generally Accepted Accounting Principles -
Section 5600

CICA Assurance Handbook Section 5600 establishes standards for an
auditor providing opinions issued after October 1, 2003 on financial
statements prepared using a basis of accounting other than generally
accepted accounting principles.  Recommendations from this section may
affect the opinion on the Province’s Special Purpose Financial Statements
and on certain public sector entity financial statements of the Province of
Manitoba.

13. Auditor Involvement With Offering Documents of Public and Private
Entities – Section 7110 and Auditor Involvement With Offering
Documents of Private Entities – Current Legislation Legislative and
Regulatory Requirements – Section 7115

These two new CICA Assurance Handbook sections revise and replace
existing Section 7100.  These standards set out the auditor’s professional
responsibilities with respect to offering documents and related security
requirements of security legislation and regulation.

These standards will affect the auditor’s responsibilities for information
provided with the auditor’s consent for Provincial debt issues and filings
with securities regulatory authorities.
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These sections are effective for an auditor’s consent letter dated on or
after November 1, 2003.

14. Audit of Government Financial Statements - Section PS 5200

CICA Assurance Handbook provides guidance for some of the special
circumstances that may apply to audits of public sector entities.

One of these special circumstances is the basis of accounting on which
financial statements of governments are prepared.  Many government
financial statements, including the Province of Manitoba, are prepared
and issued on a disclosed basis of accounting.  CICA Assurance Handbook
Section PS 5200 Audit of Government Financial Statements and related
reporting standards under Section 5100 Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards (GAAS) were amended to specifically exclude Government
Summary Financial Statements from the new reporting standards under
GAAS, including Section 5600 Auditor’s Reports on Financial Statements
Prepared Using a Basis of Accounting Other Than Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles.

The GAAS reporting standard in paragraph 5100.02(d) states;

“Where an opinion is expressed, it should indicate whether the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles, except when the financial statements:

• are prepared as described in AUDITOR’S REPORT ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PREPARED USING A BASIS OF ACCOUNTING OTHER THAN
GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, paragraph 5600.09, or
are financial statements of a federal, provincial, territorial or local
government, and the auditor is required to express an opinion on the fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with a disclosed
basis of accounting, when the auditor would refer to AUDIT OF
GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Section PS 5200, for guidance.

The report should provide adequate explanation with respect to any
reservation contained in such opinion”.

Section PS 5200 Audit of Government Financial Statements paragraph .04
states;

“GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING STANDARDS, paragraph 5100.02, requires
the expression of an opinion whether the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations
and cash flows in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles except when the financial statements are financial statements of
a federal, provincial, territorial or local government and the auditor is
required to express an opinion on the fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with a disclosed basis of accounting, when the
auditor would refer to this Section”.



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003164

FUTURE HANDBOOK SECTIONS AFFECTING FINANCIAL REPORTING
OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Sections PS 5200 and 5100 specifically exclude the Province of Manitoba
Summary Financial Statements from the new reporting standards under
GAAS.  These Summary Financial Statements can still be prepared and
issued on a disclosed basis.  However, we continue to recommend full
adoption of GAAP for the Summary Financial Statements.
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Appendix B EXCERPTS FROM “PROVINCE OF MANITOBA, ANNUAL REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003”
(Schedules associated with these financial statements have not been
replicated in this report.  To review these Schedules, refer to the
annual report noted above.)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2003”
(Schedules associated with these financial statements have not been
replicated in this report.  To review these Schedules, refer to the
annual report noted above.)
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(OAG - Office of the Auditor General; PSA - Private Sector Auditors)

              Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Government Enterprises
Leaf Rapids Town Properties Ltd. X
Manitoba Hazardous Waste Management Corporation X
Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board X
Manitoba Liquor Control Commission X
Manitoba Lotteries Corporation X
Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation X
Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation X
Workers Compensation Board X

Crown Organizations
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba X
Assiniboine Community College X
Board of Administration under the Embalmers and
   Funeral Directors Act X
Brandon University X
CancerCare Manitoba X
Centre Culturel Franco-Manitobain X
Child and Family Services of Central Manitoba X
Child and Family Services of Western Manitoba X
Communities Economic Development Fund X
Cooperative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board X
Cooperative Promotion Board X
Council on Post-Secondary Education X
Crown Corporations Council X
Economic Innovation and Technology Council X
Helen Betty Osborne Foundation X
Horse Racing Commission X
Insurance Council of Manitoba X
Keewatin Community College X
Legal Aid Services Society of Manitoba X
Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre Inc. X
Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation X
Manitoba Arts Council X
Manitoba Boxing Commission X
Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation X
Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. X
Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation X
Manitoba Development Corporation X
Manitoba Film and Sound Development Corporation X
Manitoba Foundation X
Manitoba Gaming Control Commission X
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             Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation X
Manitoba Health Research Council X
Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan X
Manitoba Hospital Capital Financing Authority X
Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation X
Manitoba Trade and Investment Corporation X
Manitoba Water Services Board X
Public Schools Finance Board X
Red River College X
Rehabilitation Centre for Children, Inc. X
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority X
University of Manitoba X
Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. X
Winnipeg Child and Family Services X

Special Operating Agencies
Civil Legal Services X
Companies Office X
Fire Commissioner, Office of the X
Fleet Vehicles Agency X
Food Development Centre X
Industrial Technology Centre X
Land Management Services X
Mail Management Agency X
Manitoba Education, Research and Learning
    Information Networks (MERLIN) X
Manitoba Securities Commission X
Manitoba Text Book Bureau X
Materials Distribution Agency X
Organization and Staff Development X
Pineland Forest Nursery X
The Property Registry X
The Public Trustee X
Vital Statistics Agency X

Regional Health Authorities
Assiniboine Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Brandon Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Burntwood Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Churchill Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Interlake Regional Health Authority X
NOR-MAN Regional Health Authority Inc. X
North Eastman Health Authority Inc. X
Parkland Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Regional Health Authority - Central Manitoba Inc. X
South Eastman Regional/Sante Sud-Est Inc. X
Winnipeg Regional Health Authority Inc. X
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ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
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Accumulated surplus/deficit

Annual surplus/deficit

Derivative contract

Enterprises

Federal transfers

Financial assets

General infrastructure assets

Generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)

General programs

Government reporting entity

The total of all past annual surpluses and deficits
to date.

The difference between the government’s annual
revenues and expenses.

A “swap” or other financial instrument that is
entered into with a third party, and is used to
hedge interest rate, foreign currency or other risk
exposures.

Also known as commercial, self-supporting, or
modified equity enterprises.  These are self-
sufficient Crown corporations that sell goods or
services to parties outside the government
reporting entity.

Funds received by the Province from the Federal
government, such as the Equalization Transfers and
the Canada Health and Social Transfer.

Assets of government (such as cash, investments,
loans and accounts receivable) that can be
converted to cash in order to pay government’s
liabilities or finance its future operations.

Also known as capital assets, physical assets,
tangible assets, non-financial assets, physical
capital stock.  These general program capital assets
form the infrastructure necessary to provide
services to citizens.

This refers to the accounting policies that
government should follow in order to be
consistent in its accounting practices with other,
similar, organizations.  The accepted authority for
GAAP for Canadian governments is the
recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA).

Those activities of government which are not
carried out by its profit-oriented enterprises.

The group of organizations that are consolidated
in the government’s main summary financial
statements.

GLOSSARY
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The money value of goods and services produced
within a geographical boundary.  GDP can be
reported without adjusting for inflation (known as
market value, current, or nominal GDP) or it may
be discounted for the effects of inflation (real
GDP).

Reducing potential exposure to foreign currency,
interest rate or other risks.  Often achieved by
entering into derivative contracts with a third
party.

Defined as government’s total liabilities less its
financial assets, this is the residual liability
amount that will have to be paid or financed by
future taxpayers.

Borrowings of the government.  Debt generally
consists of debentures, notes payable, capital
leases and mortgages.

Also known as the cost of borrowing, or debt
servicing costs, this is the interest incurred by
government on its borrowings.

The financial statements through which
government reports its financial position and
operating results.

Gross domestic product
(GDP)

Hedging

Net liabilities

Public debt

Public debt charges

Summary financial
statements




